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FOREWORD.

This is not to be in any sense of the word a “War
Book,” although it owes its conception to thoughts
arising out of the great conflict which is shaking the
foundations of civilization. We read much these days
of what will take place after the war, but what we
read are only the opinions of individuals; what the
consequences will be remains concealed in the mind
of God. Here, in America, public opinion depends
largely upon the dictum of the daily press, and the
preponderant sympathy for the Allies, and especially
for Great Britain and France, is both natural and, to
a degree, excusable. With Great Britain we have a
common language and common traditions, and with
France we have the bond of gratitude and sympathy
for generous help in our hour of need. Sentiment,
rather than reason, has always controlled the sym-
pathies of the human race. When the war is over
there will be the beginnings of a New World, a world
in which America must play her part. That she may
play her part nobly is the hope and prayer of millions
of her sons and daughters.

In order to prepare rightly for the future, it is
necessary rightly to understand the past, and ‘it is
with the earnest hope of helping, in a small way, to a
proper understanding of the past that I have told the
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story of how Great Britain has built up her world-wide
empire and how she has protected the nationality of
weaker states. For this purpose I have consulted only
English authors of wide reputation, or those, as in the
case of Mr. Shuster, of Anglo-Saxon ancestry. For
myself, I can say with pride, that all of the forebears
of both my parents are of English stock, but as they
settled in New England nearly three hundred years
ago and have played their parts in the army, the navy
and various departments of state, they have called
themselves Americans in the best sense of the word.
Because of my intense love for this America of ours,
and my belief in the ideals and principles upon which
this Nation was founded, I think it the bounden duty
of every American citizen so to fortify and strengthen
his knowledge of the past that he may be “prepared,”
in the highest sense of the term, to serve his country
and aid her by every means in his power to solve the
problems now facing her. That this brief account of
how England grew into the mighty British Empire of
today and the lessons which our country may learn
from such a growth may be of help to some other
American, is my earnest wish.

My deepest thanks are due to those who have so
mightily helped me, those writers who are dead and
those who are still amongst us. Without their aid this
story could never have been told.

ALFrep Hovt GRANGER.
Philadelphia, 1916.



CONTENTS.

FOREWORD «euvvvvetvennssoeenrseonnsesnassssonnocennnnns vii

PART I
THE UPBUILDING OF GREAT BRITAIN

CHAPTER . PAGE
I. ENGLAND AND SPAIN,..ccovnviinnrnernnansas e 1

II. ENGLAND AND HOLLAND.......0ivviviiuinnnnaan, 11
ITI. ENGLAND AND FRANCE.........coovviiiinininin,s 21
IV. TaE CoNQUEST oF INDIA......coviviiinnninn, 31
V. EncLanp aND THE Unitep States 1v 1812........ 43
VI. ENGLAND AFTER THE FALL of NAPOLEON.......... 57
VII. ENGLAND IN EGYPT.....ccovviiiivnniniiiinn.n 73

PART II.

ENGLAND IN THE TWENTIETH CENTURY.

VIII. THE ACQUISITION OF THE TRANSVAAL.............. 89
IX. THE STORY OF MOROCCO. s cutvvevennnnreonnnennan 105
X. THe AGreEMENT Wit Russia Over Persia...... 129

XI. ENGLAND AND GERMANY . ciitvnuireiererernnnnnnns 151



PART IIL

CONCLUSIONS.

XII. THE ORIGINS OF THE WAR.......viiniinirenennnn 171
XIII. PreseNt CoNDITIONS IN EUROPE AND AMERICA.... 193
XIV. WHERE Do WE STAND? ... cvveiiiiiiiiniinnnnnn 211

APPENDICES

(A) TuE OricINs oF THE GREAT WaAR. By H. N. BraiLs-
FORD ...... e e 231

(B) Brirain AND THE WAR, A Stupy 1N DipLoMacy.

By C. H. NORMAN . ... oiiiiiiiniiiiiennnnnn 254

(C) WHY WE AR AT WAR. A RerLy 10 Sir Epwarp
Grey. By Sk RaMsey MacDonarp, M. P..... 293

(D) Secrer DreLomacy THE CAUSE oF WAR. AN APPEAL
10 THE BriTisH ProrLE. By E. D. MoreL...... 303

(E) LerteEr BY BARON L’EScAILLE, BELGIAN MINISTER AT
St. PerErsBURG, To M. DavieNoN, BELGIAN !
MinNiSTER OF FOREIGN AFFAIRS



PART 1.

THE UPBUILDING OF GREAT BRITAIN.



CHAPTER L

ENGLAND AND SPAIN.

T no period in her long history has England

occupied so weak a position in the eyes of the
world as she held when Elizabeth came to the throne,
on November 17, 1558. The house of Hapsburg con-
trolled the world, and while Philip of Spain, the most
prominent member of this house, did not hold the title
of Embperor as had his father, Charles V, his power
was of greater extent and far more absolute than that
of any Emperor. By the death of Queen Mary he lost
control of England, but it is said that even before
Mary’s death he had conceived the idea, in such an
event, of marrying Elizabeth and thus retaining the
English crown as a part of the Hapsburg dominions.
That his personal feeling towards Elizabeth was one
of friendship he had shown many times, when Mary
would have welcomed and abetted any scheme to put
her out of the way. The middle of the Sixteenth
Century was a period of tremendous upheaval. The
counter-reformation, which had been brought into ex-
istence by Protestant fanaticism, was spreading over
Central Europe, and after the council of Trent, which
had purged and cleansed the Catholic Church and re-
moved practically all of the things against which the
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reformers protested, it seemed likely to restore uni-
formity in religion. Elizabeth came to the throne sup-
ported by Protestant nobles and a strong popular
feeling in her favor. She was twenty-five years of
age, and had been educated in the best of all schools,
danger and adversity. She realized fully the weak-
ness of her title to the crown, because of the brand
of illegitimacy which Rome and her mother’s divorce
and tragic death had cast upon her, but she was fully
determined to maintain her power against the world.

Several things were strongly in her favor at the
very commencement of her reign. The first was her
strong resemblance to her father, who, in spite of
his brutality, tyranny and licentiousness, had first
awakened in the minds of Englishmen a sense of their
nation’s possibilities; then, too, she was wholly Eng-
lish, her nearest foreign ancestor having been Cath-
erine of Valois, wife of Henry V, who had later
married Owen Tudor ; she was a woman, and (if con-
temporary accounts are to be believed) quite as hand-
some as her cousin, Mary Stuart. At that time
England had no distinctive policy of her own. All of
the wars on the Continent, both before and during
Elizabeth’s long reign, were primarily religious wars.
Philip of Spain, while consumed with ambition for the
extension of his dominions, was a religious fanatic,
and it may be truthfully said that his fundamental
idea in desiring to increase his power was to strengthen
and increase the power of the Catholic Church. In
those days the simplest mode of increasing political
power was through marriage. It was by means of
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marriages that the descendants of Rudolf of Hapsburg

had acquired control of Spain, Austria, Hungary, the
Low Countries, Sicily, the major portion of Italy, Bur-
gundy and, until the death of Mary, England as well.
The only other ruling family which in any way com-
peted with them was the House of Valois in France,
but that family was fast approaching extinction, and
upon the death of Henry III and the succession of
Henry of Navarre to the throne of France, ceased to
be a factor in European affairs. During the last years
of Mary’s reign, Elizabeth had seen her own country
disintegrating through religious wars, France torn up
with civil conflict, the Low Countries heroically striv-
ing to overthrow the power of Spain, Scotland smart-
ing under the tyranny of the Guises, the Empire
becoming strongly Protestant, and Philip tightening his
hold upon the sovereignty of the world. Whether she
foresaw the inevitable conflict between England and
Spain, we know not, but of this we can be sure—that
she realized that England had no chance to become any
factor in international politics until she had had suf-
ficient time to gather herself together and recover from
the religious persecutions of the two preceding reigns.
To bring about this unification of the nation, Elizabeth
kept on friendly terms with Philip, while really at-
tempting to undermine his power by aiding the Nether-
lands and also the Huguenots in France. The motive
back of all her scheming and her coquetting with vari-
ous princes, with the possibilities of her marrying, was
to gain time for her country to recover from its re-
ligious troubles. What were Elizabeth’s real religious
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views will never be known. In the light of modern
thought, her religion might be said to be her country’s
welfare, We know that she loved ritual and insisted
upon uniformity of worship, but beyond that she never
went. Because the Protestant nobles had supported
her accession and she was not willing to involve her
people in the furious struggles which were devastating
France and the Low Countries, she made England
Protestant, and repelled the teachings of the Counter-
Reformation.

Between her accession and 1588, the year of the
Armada, her policy had been one of “peace at any
price,” coupled with rigid domestic economy. It is
true that during this period she had allowed private
citizens to fit out buccaneering expeditions against the
vast sea power of Spain—the stories of Drake and
Hawkins still thrill the imagination of mankind. When
Drake circumnavigated the globe and brought home
his tremendous booty, captured from Spanish ships,
he struck the first real blow to the sea power of Spain
and blazed the trail for England’s future greatness.
Philip expostulated with Elizabeth, and she replied
by knighting Drake and wearing some of his jewels
in her crown. From that date the conflict between
the two powers was inevitable. In 1580 Philip had
taken possession of Portugal, and by this stroke had
doubled his navy and his colonial possessions, and had
made himself the mightiest single ruler that Europe
had known, but in the vast extent of his dominions
lay his real weakness. Elizabeth had not only made
her people one on all questions of national policy, but
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had prepared for the political union of Great Britain
upon her death, by her close alliance with the Cove-
nanters in Scotland and her recognition of James, the
son of Mary Stuart, as her heir. In his infancy James
had been put into the hands of the Protestant party,
and whatever may have been his personal preferences,
he was outwardly Protestant until his death. This
fact gave a feeling of security to the people of Great
Britain, as it assured the preservation of Protestantism
as the State Religion. In our day of religious freedom
and the religious indifference which has grown out of
such freedom, it is hard to realize the importance of
such settlement to the peace of the realm.

It was her desire to strengthen this feeling of re-
ligious unity that persuaded Elizabeth to espouse
openly the cause of the rebellious Low Countries, and
defy Spain. This espousal of the Netherlands marks
a transition in her policy and hastens the conflict with
Philip. In 1585 the Low Countries, finally giving up
hopes of any real help from France, sent a petition
to Elizabeth from the States-General, which read as
follows: ‘“Recognizing that there is no prince or
potentate to whom they are more obliged than they
are to Your Majesty, we are about to request you,
very humbly, to accept the sovereignty of these Prov-
inces and the people of the same for your very humble
vassals and subjects.” It is evident from careful read-
ing of history that the people of the Netherlands were
sincerely desirous of such a political union, but Eliza-
beth steadily declined to bring it about. Between the
two peoples were many traits in common, and, as in
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those days statesmanship could almost have been de-
fined as ability to acquire territory, her refusal remains
incomprehensible, unless we recognize the fact that for
almost twenty-five years her fixed resolve had been
to keep on friendly terms with Philip, while doing all
in her power to weaken his strength by underhand
means.

Sir John R. Seeley, in his “Growth of British
Policy,” says:

“We cannot, therefore, see how Elizabeth’s refusal [to
accept sovereignty of the Netherlands] can be justified on
the grounds of statesmanship. It is none the less characteristic
on that account. Great and daring actions were done in
abundance by Englishmen in this latter part of Elizabeth’s
reign, but they were not done by Elizabeth. It is difficult to
grasp the fact that a ruler of so high spirit, of so much energy
and courage, did not possess the talent of action but did
possess in a unique degree the talent, in certain circumstances
equally valuable, of refraining from action. Perhaps most
great statesmen are somewhat sparing of adventurous action;
nevertheless, the great masterpieces of statesmanship are com-
monly sudden and rapid strokes of well-timed audacity. But
though we trace almost all that makes modern England to
Elizabeth, no such strokes were struck by her. Her states-
manship is almost purely negative; it consists solely in provid-
ing time and room and liberty for the energy of the nation to
display itself. She does not lead the people but, in rare
emergencies, she lets them go.

“She did indeed use brave words in her Declaration of
1585. But as she said in that document that her main object
was peace, so it would appear from her subsequent conduct
of the war that she intended to deter Philip from action
rather than to take action herself. Peace and war were not
in those days so sharply distinct as they are now. In 1585
there had been already many a sea fight and many a battle
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in the Netherlands between Englishmen and Spaniards, and
twice a Spanish ambassador had been expelled from England
by Elizabeth. Philip indeed had shown a long-suffering spirit,
and it was, therefore, not unreasonable for Elizabeth to calcu-
late that her threats and declaration of war might determine
him to make peace. .

“Had she consciously adopted at this moment a war policy,
we should have seen her devoting herself to military prepara-
tions, and she was assuredly not so blind as to imagine that
war could be carried on with the greatest power in the world
without a large expenditure of money. The mania of par-
simony which possessed her may be understood, so long as
she remained at peace, as the instinct of sound finance in an
uneducated form. During the long peace of Elizabeth her
cheese-paring economy may well be supposed to have done
more good than harm. But what are we to think of the
same propensity in time of war? We see that the campaign
of 1588 in the Netherlands was ruined by the frenzied struggle
of Elizabeth to carry on war without spending money. We
see her starving her soldiers, reducing her servants to despair,
and forfeiting her reputation among her allies by tricks of
miserly economy unworthy of a great prince. Certainly, if
we should judge her by this campaign, we should pronounce
her one of the most incapable of war ministers, or, at least,
we should be driven to suppose that she had not mental
elasticity enough to comprehend what is involved in a great
change of policy. It rather appears that she intended no
change of policy, and that she did not understand or admit
that her period of peace was over and that her period of war
had begun. She intended, in short, to avert war by threaten-
ing war. As soon as she found that her measures had not
produced this effect, she conceived a disgust for the war in
the Netherlands.

“We understand both her prompt and firm refusal to accept
the sovereignty of the Netherlands and her feeble conduct of
the war, if we assume simply that a serious war with Philip
never entered into her calculations. She could not accept the
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sovereignty for herself simply because she meant the sov-
ereignty to remain with Philip. Artois and Hainault had
already submitted to him; Brabant and Flanders were already
half conquered; these successes had been due partly to con-
cessions made by Parma in the name of Philip. It was still,
therefore, natural for Elizabeth to expect that Holland and
Zealand would in the end submit, too, but to terms. The
result which actually arrived was too unprecedented, the con-
fused Dutch Republic of the Seventcenth Century was a
thing too shapeless to be foreseen in 1585. No; Philip would
win, but he might be forced to make considerable concessions
to Holland and Zealand as he had done already to Artois and
Hainault. Philip had all along recognized the extreme dif-
ficulty of suppressing the rebellion of the Low Countries so
long as it received the support of England. Now, therefore,
that new prospects, involving new efforts and expenses, opened
before him in France so that some settlement of the Dutch
difficulty seemed doubly imperative, Philip might certainly be
brought to terms—so Elizabeth might calculate—if England
should once more step decidedly forward and show that the
decision of the question lay in her hands. In one word, what
Elizabeth had in view was simply mediation. She proposed
simply to draught a treaty which Philip on the one hand and
the states of Holland and Zealand on the other hand should

sign.”

That she failed in her purpose was due to causes
entirely beyond her control. While she was negotiat-
ing and coquetting with various powers on the Conti-
nent she failed to recognize what her policy of peace
had done for her people. The mass of public opinion
was with the rebels in the Netherlands and for war
with Spain. Hundreds of Englishmen had enlisted
in the Dutch armies, while the adventures of Drake,
Hawkins and others had awakened a desire in the
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minds of the English people for a share in the profits
to be derived from the new world. While Elizabeth
hated and feared war, she was always amenable to the
wishes of her people, and so everything hastened the
war. It is not my purpose to repeat the story of the
defeat of the Armada. In the light of the later vic-
tories which England has achieved on the sea, the
victory over Philip’s fleet was a very puny one. At
the time it apparently only temporarily checked the
power of Spain, but in its consequences to England and
to the rest of the world its importance cannot be over-
estimated, as it marked the end of English isolation
and launched her upon that naval policy which has
been her greatness for the past three hundred years.

Philip lived for ten years after the defeat of the
Armada, and at the time of his death he was still ruler
of the greatest power in.the world, but at his very
doors another nation was springing into power under
the more enlightened rule of Henry of Navarre. The
house of Valois was extinct, and under the Bourbons
France became in turn the supreme nation on the conti-
nent of Europe. This was not evident at the time
of Philip’s death, but by that time the world had
ceased to fear Spain, and, when fear of her was re-
moved, the rest of Europe realized that the Spanish
power had begun to decline. During the remainder
of Elizabeth’s reign, while England was more or less
involved in the struggles on the Continent, her people
at home were little interested in Continental affairs.
They no longer turned their eyes across the narrow
English Channel, but rather out across the broad At-
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lantic, which also washed their shores. In the wars
which followed the defeat of the Armada, the part
which England played was the part which she has
generally followed since. In all naval affairs she took
the lead and struck hard, but on land she assisted her
allies with subsidies and allowed them to do the fight-
ing. England continued ostensibly at war with Spain
until 1609, when a truce was established which lasted
until near the end of the reign of James I. During
this period England had established herself upon the
North American Continent and had thus fairly entered
upon her career of World Empire. She did not again
come into active conflict with any Continental power
until the reign of Cromwell. By the destruction of
Spanish naval supremacy she had entered upon what
has ever since been her paramount policy, one might
almost say, her prime religious belief, namely, that
England must rule the oceans, and whoever dared
oppose this policy must be crushed.



CHAPTER II
ENGLAND AND HOLLAND.

URING the years between the accession of James

I and the beheading of his son, England was
forced by domestic troubles to practically abandon any
strong foreign policy. It is not my purpose to tell of the
long struggle between the first Stuart kings and their
peoples, which eventually developed into a bitter civil
war, culminating in the execution of Charles I. That
act for the moment stunned Europe, and no people
were apparently more shocked by it than the majority
of the English themselves. With the destruction of
royal power, Parliament became supreme, but Parlia-
ment was not, at first, able to handle the question of
government alone, and its mistakes soon led to the sec-
ond civil war between Parliament and the army. In
this struggle the army was completely victorious, and
Oliver Cromwell became the first man in England.
That he proved himself to be one of the great generals
and statesmen of the world is an undisputed fact.
Charles I's death had at once made his son, Charles,
king of Scotland, and had ended the temporary union
of the two kingdoms. Cromwell determined that the
union of Great Britain and Ireland was absolutely
essential for the safety and development of the British
Isles, and successfully brought it about by his wars
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with Scotland and Ireland and the establishment of
the Commonwealth of Great Britain. The earlier union
between England and Scotland might be called a family
affair, but the union established by Cromwell was a
national union and has never been broken. During
these years of internal struggles at home an entirely
new conditions of affairs had arisen on the continent
of Europe, while in North America another England
had been firmly established, wholly through individual
efforts of British subjects. With the decline of Spanish
power in Europe, which began after the defeat of the
Armada, England, as we have shown, had begun to
turn her eyes away from the continent of Europe to
the possibilities of the new world across the Atlantic;
but she was not alone in this. During her years of
internal struggle, Portugal had broken away from
the Spanish rule, and, under the wise guidance of the
house of Braganza, had recovered most of her over-
sea possessions, including Brazil; France had also not
been idle but had established strong colonies in Acadia
(Nova Scotia) and along the St. Lawrence, and had
pushed her discoveries far into the interior of North
America and held the Mississippi Valley, while Hol-
land held the valley of the Hudson River. As yet
these advances into America had not in any way
alarmed England, but as soon as Cromwell had sub-
dued Parliament and made England for the first time
in her history a great military power, he found that
Holland had become vastly powerful upon the seas.

In 1641, when William of Orange married Mary
Stuart, the daughter of Charles I, the interests of the
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Stuart and Orange families became identical and were
thus a menace to the Republican government in Eng-
land. The death of William II of Orange, just before
the birth of his son, who was to become England’s
great king, William III, removed for a time any
menace to Cromwell’'s peace of mind, as the Low
Countries immediately set up a Republican form of
government. It would have seemed the natural thing
for the two Protestant Republics to have formed at
once a close alliance, but Cromwell was not ready for
that. It will be remembered that in 1585 an embassy
had been sent to England from the States-General,
petitioning Queen Elizabeth to assume the sovereignty
of the Netherlands, and that she had declined. After
the death of the Prince of Orange, during the session
of the Great Convocation of the Netherlands in 1651,
two ambassadors, named Oliver St. John and Walter
Strickland, were sent from England to propose “a
more strict and intimate alliance and union whereby
there may be a more intrinsical and mutual interest of
each in the other than hath hitherto been for the good
of both.” That this embassy failed can only be ex-
plained by the great commercial rivalry and jealousy
which had grown up between the two countries. The
English navy, which had had its real beginning under
Sir Francis Drake and his contemporaries, had in the
intervening years grown great, and wherever it sailed
had come in contact with Dutch ships. During the first
civil war, Parliament had kept control of the fleet, but
in the second civil war the fleet had been divided, a
large portion of the navy being Royalist in feeling, so
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that we see at the same moment two civil wars in Eng-
land, the one on land and the other, under the rival
leaderships of Prince Rupert and Blake, upon the sea.

Blake’s victories over Rupert did much to unify the
navy and fix in the minds of the British Government
the idea, which has ever since been first in England’s
mind—that Britain must rule the sea. In England’s
maritime civil war it was practically impossible for
Holland not to become involved. Her ships crowded
the North Atlantic and the English Channel, and were
the carriers of the world. They even carried a large
percentage of British trade, so that the English de-
mand for a political union did not appeal to the Dutch
people in 1651. In 1585 the Dutch states had been
engaged in a life and death struggle with Spain, and
England’s help seemed vital. Now Spain no longer
ruled the waves, and the greater part of the world’s
trade traveled in Dutch bottoms. This time it was
Holland which declined the proposed union. Alarmed
at what she considered Dutch aggression, England
entered upon what has ever since been her fixed policy
—to write the maritime law of the world. Seeley
says,

“A policy now begins which is not, to be sure, very scru-
pulous, but which is able, resolute and successful.”

Again, he says:

“Moral rectitude is hardly a characteristic of it, and if it is
religious this perhaps would have appeared, had the Protec-
torate lasted longer, to have been its most dangerous feature.

Nothing is more dangerous than imperialism marching with
an idea on its banner, and Protestantism was to our Emperor
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Oliver what the ideas of the Revolution were to Napoleon
and his nephew.

“We may well, I think, shudder at the thought of the
danger which was removed by the fall of the Protectorate.”

In 1651, the year of its unsuccessful mission to Hol-
land, England passed the Navigation Act, which re-
mained in force for two hundred years. Seeley calls
this “the act which laid the foundation of the English
Commercial Empire.”

It completed the work begun by Drake and carried
on by Raleigh, and created an English commercial
navy. Before this the English people had established
colonies in America and factories in India, but the
bulk of the carrying between England, America and
India had been done by the Dutch merchant fleet. The
Navigation Act excluded the Dutch from carrying any
English trade and thus struck a deadly blow at the
state with which, a few months earlier in the same
year, England had attempted to form a ‘political union.
Another provision of the Navigation Act to which
England has steadfastly adhered as vital to her self-
preservation was the “right of search.” To the Dutch
people, who lived by the carrying trade of the world,
this was a blow which could not be accepted without
a struggle, and so we see war declared in 1652 between
the two Protestant and Republican governments who
should have been in closest alliance because they up-
held, or professed to uphold, the same faith and the
same ideals.

All the great wars of Europe in former centuries
had been primarily religious wars, but from now on
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we will find, if we search for the very beginnings of
struggles, that questions of trade and not questions of
ideals cause most of the great wars of the world. This
war was brought about solely because of trade rivalry
between the Dutch and the English. In 1624, 1646
and 1650 the question of legislation against the Dutch
carrying trade had been brought up in the British
Parliament. In March, 1651, the Dutch Republic
entered into an alliance with Denmark which distinctly
threatened British trade in the Baltic Sea and was the
prime motive for the passage of the Navigation Act.
England had begun to realize that her vocation was
distinctly commercial and maritime, and to fulfill her
manifest destiny it was absolutely essential that she
must continually build and maintain her fleet. To do
this she must have easy access to the world’s supply
of hemp, tar and timber. In those days these materials
could only be found in the Baltic countries. Any
arrangement between other powers which could inter-
fere with her direct communication with these
countries was a menace which England naturally felt
was not to be endured. It was to her a matter of
commercial life and death that the narrow strait which
marks the entrance to the Baltic Sea should be kept
open. It was equally natural that Holland, when she
found herself on the eve of war with England, should
desire to cut her rival off from access to those countries
which produced the materials most needed for the
maintenance of the British fleet. An alliance with
Denmark made this possible. At that time Denmark
was one of the important states in Europe, and, because
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of the family connection between the Danish ruling
family and the house of Stuart (James I having mar-
ried a Danish princess), the Danish Government was
hostile to the English Commonwealth.

When the news of the Dutch-Danish Treaty reached
England, the British Government at once became
alarmed. It was for the purpose of checkmating an
alliance which might cut them off from the Baltic Sea
that the British Government decided to send St. John
and Strickland to Holland to propose that political
union to which I have already referred. Mr. Geddes
prints from the manuscript order Book of the Council
of State, May 9, 1651, in his Administration of John
de Witt, page 176, the following paragraph of instruc-
tion to St. John and Strickland:

“Whereas the trade of this nation through the Sound into
the Baltique Sea is of very great concernment, both in respect
of the usefulness of the commodities brought from thence,
so necessary, among other things, for building and rigging
of ships, which it is not convenient that we should only receive
or not at the pleasure of other nations; but more especially
in regard of the great number of ships we have employed in
the transportation of these bulky goods whereby mariners
are bred and they and our shipping maintained, and being
also but short voyages, are often at home to be made use of
in case of any public occasions of the state requiring their
services; and, whereas, this trade being very much weakened
otherwise, is in danger to be wholly lost by the agreement
that hath been lately made between the King of Denmark
and the States-General of the United Provinces, etc.”

Of cburse, these instructions to their ambassadors
were never intended to reach the eyes of the Dutch
Government, but they plainly show the motive which



18 ENGLAND'S WORLD EMPIRE

prompted the English Commonwealth to propose a
union of the two republics. After the embassy had
failed and the Navigation Act had been passed, the
war was inevitable. Between the Baltic States were
rivalries as bitter as those between Spain and the
Netherlands or the great houses of Bourbon and Haps-
burg. For a century Denmark and Sweden had been
in a state of constantly renewing conflict, while the
disputes between Sweden and Poland had been equally
bitter.

When Holland, so powerful upon the sea, proposed
a treaty of alliance, Denmark could not but feel that
such an. association would strengthen her greatly
against her rival to the North, and, consequently, in
the winter of 1652-53, a treaty was drawn up between
the United Provinces of the Netherlands and the King-
dom of Denmark which closed the Sound between Den-
mark and the Scandinavian Peninsula to all English
ships.

By this treaty Denmark agreed to enforce this
closure of the Sound by a fleet, while the United Prov-
inces agreed to share the expense of maintaining such
a fleet and also to defend Denmark against any attacks
which might be made upon her because of this treaty.
I do not intend to enter into any of the details of the
struggle which continued until April, 1654, and ended
with the establishment of the supremacy of the British
fleet. 'We have seen how the nation which, at the suec-
cession of Elizabeth in 1558, was but a small power
occupying only a portion of the island of Great Britain
- and torn up with religious dissensions, had in a little
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less than one hundred years defeated the greatest
monarchy modern Europe had ever seen, and had also
reduced to a second place upon the sea that other
nation, so akin to her in racial characteristics, ideals
and religious beliefs, which she herself had helped to -
upbuild. For some years more, in fact until the acces-
sion of a Prince of Orange to the throne of England
in 1688, Holland continued to prosper upon the sea,
but never to quite the same extent as she had done
under Cromwell. When Charles II came to the throne
he was wise enough to follow in general the foreign
policy of the Commonwealth, except where it directly
interfered with his personal relations with Louis XIV.
It was of equal interest to the French king, who was
busily building up a navy of his own, to cripple the
naval power of both Holland and England, so we find
his emissaries secretly fostering friction between the
English and the Dutch. ‘

When, therefore, Charles wished to form an alliance
with France, his government supported him in Parlia-
ment, although it was to be another alliance between a
Catholic and a Protestant power against a Protestant
one. William Ashley Cooper, a statesman of the
Cromwellian type, made an impassioned speech in
Parliament, quoting Cato’s words, “Delenda est
Carthago,” and saying “Holland is our great rival in
trade, on the ocean and in the New World. Let us
destroy her, though she be a Protestant power; let us
destroy her with the help of a Catholic power.” That
this destruction was accomplished is now a matter
of history, but little did the statesmen of that day
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believe that, by making the alliance which they so
strongly advocated, they were helping to build up a
rival both on the sea and in the New World who
would draw them into a series of wars that would
strain English strength and drain English coffers for
more than a hundred years.



CHAPTER IIIL
ENGLAND AND FRANCE.

TO tell in detail the story of the struggle be-
tween England and France, which finally resulted
in the elimination of the latter as a dangerous rival
upon the seas, would cover several volumes, as this
struggle practically began 'in the reign of Elizabeth
and continued, intermittently, until the final defeat of
Napoleon at Waterloo in 1815.

In the early part of Elizabeth’s reign the Continental
power which she really feared was not Spain, against
whom she later waged a successful war, but France.
The reason for this is easy to understand because her
cousin, Mary Stuart, whom the Catholics in England
regarded as the legitimate heir to Henry V1II, was the
wife of the Dauphin and later, for a brief period,
queen consort of France. At this time the house of
Valois, so soon to suffer a total eclipse, divided with
the house of Hapsburg the sovereignty of Continental
Europe, and in the person of Mary Stuart claimed to
be the rightful ruler of Great Britain, because Mary
Stuart was the recognized queen of Scotland. This
fact alone amply accounts for Elizabeth’s reluctance
to quarrel with Phillip. By the time that it was no
longer possible to avoid war with Spain, the house of
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Valois had become extinct, and Henry of Navarre,
the champion of Protestantism in France, had suc-
ceeded to the throne and was engaged in a bitter civil
war to secure possession of his inheritance, which
Philip 11, through his marriage to Elizabeth of Valois,
was claiming for his own. We have shown how Eliza-
beth had become recognized in Europe as the Protes-
tant Queen, because of the assistance which she had
for so many years given to the Low Countries in their
struggle with Spain. When she found herself facing
actual war with Spain, what was mbore natural than
that she should form an alliance with Henry of
Navarre, a Protestant prince engaged in a life and
death struggle to maintain possession of his throne.
The Spanish War was practically ended by the de-
feat of the Armada, although the state of war between
the two countries lasted until 1597. In 1593, however,
an event had taken place which greatly changed the
condition of affairs on the Continent—Henry IV be-
came Roman Catholic. By this act he removed the main
cause of opposition to him in his own country and also
put an end to the animosity of Philip and entered upon
that policy of internal development, strengthened by
foreign alliances, which so rapidly raised the house of
Bourbon to a point of equality with the house of Haps-
butg. After the death of Henry IV, France, under the
ministry of the Cardinals Richelieu and Mazarin,
shortly became the greatest power in Western Europe.
During these years England was undergoing her own
civil conflict, and later, under the dictatorship of Crom-
well, was engaged in her struggle with the Dutch Re-
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public. After Holland was reduced to second place
upon the sea, Cromwell formed an alliance with his for-
mer rival and ostensibly wager war with Spain, but in
reality his opponent was France, under Mazarin. In
France, in spite of the fact that Mazarin had formally
recognized the government of Cromwell, the sym-
pathies were all with the house of Stuart, which was
so largely French in blood; and in France, Henrietta
Maria, daughter of Henry IV, and widow of Charles
I had found an asylum for herself and her sons. Until
the Revolution of 1688, which marked the beginning
of modern England, the relationship between the
Stuart kings, Charles II and James 11, and their cousin,
Louis XIV, was of the closest type. This period marks
a lull in the struggle between France and England, but
with the exile of James II and the accession of Will-
iam and Mary, a new period begins.
Sir John Seeley says of this period:

“Between the Revolution (1688) and the Battle of Water-
loo, it may be reckoned that we waged seven great wars, of
which the shortest lasted seven years, and the longest about
twelve. Out of a hundred and twenty-six years, sixty-four
years, or more than half, were spent in war.”

“No English historian has covered this period of
struggle more thoroughly than has Seeley in his two
great books, The Expansion of England and The
Growth of British Policy, and as he conclusively proves
that the struggle between England and France was the
most important event in the history of the British Em-
pire, I shall quote him very freely in this chapter in
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order to show the motives which were back of this
gigantic struggle. Summarizing the wars of this
period, 1688 to 1815, Seeley says:

“Let us pass these wars in review. There was first the
European War, in which England was involved by the Revolu-
tion of 1688. It is pretty well remembered since the story of
it has been told by Macaulay. It lasted eight years, from
1689 to 1697. Then there was the great war called from the
Spanish Succession, which we shall always remember because
it was the war of Marlborough’s victories. It lasted eleven
years, from 1702 to 1713. The next great war has now passéd
almost entirely out of memory, not having brought to light
any very great commander, nor having achieved any definite
results—and yet this war, too, lasted nine years, from 1739
to 1748, Next comes the Seven Years’ War, in which we
have not forgotten the victories of Frederick. In the English
part of it we all remember one grand incident, the battle of
the Heights of Abraham, the death of Wolfe and the con-
quest of Canada, We have quite forgotten that that victory
was one of a long series, which to contemporaries seemed
fabulous, so that the nation came out of it intoxicated with
glory, and England stood upon a pinnacle of greatness which
she had never reached before. This is the fourth war. It
is in sharp contrast with the fifth which we have tacitly agreed
to mention as seldom as we can. What we call the American
War, which, from the first outbreak of hostilities to the Peace
of Paris, lasted eight years, from 1775 to 1783, was indeed
tgnominious enough in America, but in its latter part it
spread into a great naval war, in which England stood at
bay against almost all the world, and in this, through the
victories of Rodney, we came off with some credit. The sixth
and seventh are the two great wars with Revolutionary
France, which we are not likely .to forget, although we ought
to keep them more separate in our minds than we do. The
first lasted nine years, from 1793 to 1802, and the second
twelve, from 1803 to 1815.”
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During the long period of time covered by these
seven great wars it is not the wars themselves which
are of interest to the student of history, but the motives
back of these wars. If we look into these motives
we will find that every one of them is fundamentally
a war for the purpose of securing some sort of com-
mercial supremacy. England fought Spain because of
the “right of search” which was claimed by the
Spaniards and having settled that question to her own
satisfaction by eliminating the Spanish naval power,
she immediately established that same principle of the
“right of search” as being fundamental to the protec-
tion and preservation of her own naval supremacy.
We Americans know how our fathers regarded that
principle in 1812, and what it cost us, although today,
so completely does the passage of time change public
opinion, it seems to be the desire of our government
and our press to defend Great Britain’s assumptions.
The fourth war mentioned by Seeley is what in our -
American textbooks is known as the “French and
Indian War.” During the able administration of Col-
bert, under Louis XIV, France had not only firmly
established herself on the banks of the St. Lawrence
River and in the peninsula of Nova Scotia, but she
nad also, under the intrepid leadership of La Salle,
Bienville and others, pushed her discoveries into the
heart of the North American Continent and taken
possession of the whole of the Mississippi Valley to
the Gulf of Mexico.

It would almost seem to the casual observer that
France was destined to be the controlling power in
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shaping the destinies of the North American Conti-
nent, but, unfortunately for her, the very extent.of
her possessions led to her loss of them. England
possessed a compact settlement of hardy and intelli-
gent colonies reaching from the Bay of Fundy to the
peninsula of Florida and extending inland to the
Appalachian Mountains. Nowhere in the world was
the principle of self-government more deeply implanted
than in the hearts of the British colonists, as was shown
in 1775, when they entered into their long struggle for
the defense of this principle. Under Colbert’s adminis-
tration France had not only greatly increased her
foreign possessions but had also become the predomi-
nant power in all European affairs, so that wherever
England turned she found herself opposed and
thwarted by what she considered French aggression.
The center of trade was no longer the Mediterranean
Sea, as it had been even as late as the days of Eliza-
beth, but was now upon the Atlantic Ocean, as the
Continents upon its Western shores offered to Europe
boundless opportunities of development and the conse-
quent trade possibilities resulting therefrom. British
statesmen were keen to see that the control of the cen-
tral valley of the North American Continent by a
hostile power effectually prevented the growth and
expansion of her seaboard colonies; they also saw that
by the conquest of North America they would effec-
tually cripple the arrogant pretensions of France.
After the successful conclusion of the Seven Years’
War, Europe settled down to what was expected to be
a long period of peace and internal development, and
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no country felt itself more secure than England, with
all of North America except Mexico and Louisiana
for her future expansion, and her supremacy upon the
seas universally recognized.

In less than thirty years the conflagration broke out
* again, and this time it was started by these same un-
grateful American colonists in whose behalf the
Mother Country had fought a bloody war, for whose
expansion she had freed a continent from foreign
yoke, and really for whose development George III
was bending every effort to build up a strong
paternal government similar to that established by the
house of -Bourbon, which had made of France the
most powerful nation in the world. We all know how
Bourbonism was soon destroyed both in England and-
France. The English Government, under the wise
guidance of William Pitt and Charles Fox, accepted
the lessons which the American colonists had taught
it and entered upon that reconstructed colonial policy
which has so splendidly built up the present world-
wide British Empire. After the war, which cost Eng-
land all of her North American colonies except Canada
and Nova Scotia, France entered headlong into her
great Revolution, which shook the very foundations
of European civilization and seemed, for a time, to
threaten the destruction of monarchical government.
Out of the French Revolution arose a new Europe, in
which a revived French nation struggled through vari-
ous forms of attempted self-government until, under
the autocratic power of the most brilliant military
genius since Julius Caesar, the Napoleonic Empire
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dominated the entire Continent of Europe and entered
into its final struggle for the overthrow of England’s
supremacy of the sea. Napoleon seems to have
realized, from the commencement of his meteoric
career, that England alone blocked the way to the
permanent supremacy of France, and that, in order
to attain to this supremacy, it was necessary for France
to recover her lost place on the American Continent,
and some control of the sea, and a careful study of
his plans reveals how deep-laid were Napoleon’s
designs for such recovery. Seeley says:

“He sees in England never the island, the European State,
but always the World-Empire, the network of dependencies
and colonies and islands covering every sea, among which
he was himself destined to find at last his prison and his
grave.

“Thus, when in 1798 he was put in charge for the first
time of the war with England, he begins by examining the
British Channel, and, no doubt, glances at Ireland. But what
he sees does not tempt him, although a few months afterward
Ireland broke out in a terrible rebellion, during which, if the
conqueror of Italy had suddenly landed at the head of a
French army, undoubtedly he would have struck a heavier
blow at England than any she has yet suffered. His mind is
preoccupied with other thoughts. He remembers how France
once seemed on the point of conquering India, until England
checked her progress; accordingly he decides, and convinces
the Directory, that the best way to carry on the contest with
England is by occupying Egypt . . . and he actually
carries out this plan so that the whole struggle is transferred
from the British Channel into the boundless spaces of Greater
Britain.

“When this war was brought to an end by the treaty of
Amiens, in 1802, the results of it were such as to make a
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great epoch in the history of Great Britain. In the first place
Egypt is finally evacuated by France—in the colonial world
England remained mistress of Ceylon and Trinidad.

“But the last war, that which lasted from 1803 to 1815, was

this in any sense a war for the New World? It does not seem
to be so; and naturally, because England from the very
- beginning had such a naval superiority that Napoleon could
never again succeed in making his way back into the New
World. Nevertheless, I believe it was intended by Napoleon
to be so. By the treaty of Amiens England had engaged
within a given time to-evacuate Malta, and this, for certain
reasons which need not here be discussed, she afterwards
refused to do. Now, why did Napoleon want her to leave
Malta, and why did she refuse to do so? It was because
Malta was the key of Egypt, and she had good reason to
believe that he would in a moment re-occupy Egypt and that
the struggle for India would begin again.

“The fact is that Napoleon’s intention in this war is
obscured to us by the grand failure of the maritime enter-
prise which he had planned. .

“He drifts in a direction he does not intend, yet the Con-
tinental system and the violent seizure of Spain and Portugal
(great New World powers) shows that he does not forget his
original object. Moreover, Colonel Matterson shows in his
“Later Struggles of France in the East” what a destructive
privateering war the French were able to keep up in the
Indian Ocean from their island of Mauritius, long after their
naval power had been destroyed at Trafalgar. It was by the
conquest of this island and its retention at the Peace of
England that the Hundred Years’ War in England and France
for the New World came to an end.”

England alone, among European powers, came out
of the Napoleonic conflict unscathed. By her control

of the sea her country had escaped invasion by the
conqueror, although we know, from both the histories
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and the romances of that period, that as long as Na-
. poleon sat on the throne of France the English people
never felt secure from invasion, and only when she
had him completely in her power did she feel that she
had at last reached her goal as the first power of the
world. Even then, so long and bitter had been the
struggle and at many times so close the contest, that
Seeley says: ,

“In fact, in those times and down to our own memory the

eternal discord of England and France appeared so much a
law of nature that it was seldom spoken of.”



CHAPTER IV.
THE CONQUEST OF INDIA.

HE story of the British Conquest of India is

totally different from that of British Expansion
in other quarters of the globe, and in many ways re-
sembles the conquests of Mexico and Peru by Cortez
and Pizzaro. In all three cases the conquests were
begun by private adventurers for private gain, but, just
as the Spanish Government took over the lands pos-
sessed by their subjects in North and South America,
so England, in 1784, when Pitt introduced his India
Bill to Parliament, officially assumed the control of the
affairs of the East India Company, and on the final
dissolution of that company India became an integral
part of the British Empire, with a Secretary of State
for India who is a recognized member of the British
Cabinet, has a seat in Parliament and is responsible
for the administration of Indian affairs. All author-
ities in British history dwell, in their accounts of the
conquest of India, upon the fact that Great Britain
drifted into it as a consequence of the long-drawn-out
struggle between France and England. Seeley is, as
usual in dealing with the story of the upbuilding of
Greater Britain, the most clear and concise of
historians. He says:
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“Our acquisition of India was made blindly. Nothing great
that has ever been done by Englishmen was done so unin-
tentionally, so accidentally, as the conquest of India. There
has indeed been little enough of calculation or contrivance
in our colonization. When our first settlers went out to
Virginia or New England, it was not intended to lay the
foundations of a mighty republican state. But here the event
has differed from the design only in degree. We did intend

to establish a new community, and we even knew that it would

be republican in its tendency; what was hidden from us was
only its immense magnitude. But in India we meant one
thing and did quite another. Qur object was trade, and in
this we were not particularly successful. War with the native
states we did not think of at all till a hundred years after
our first settlement, and then we thought only of such war
as might support our trade; after this time again more than
half a century passed before we thought of any considerable
territorial acquisitions; the Nineteenth Century had almost
begun before the policy of acquiting an ascendency over the
native states was entered upon; and our present supreme
position cannot be said to have been entered upon before the
Governor-Generalship of Lord Dalhousie, a little more than
a quarter of a century ago. All along we have been looking
one way and moving another. . . . We call this Empire
a conquest in order to mark the fact that it was not acquired
in any degree by settlement or colonization but by a series of
wars, ending in cessions of territory by the native Powers to
the East India Company.”

It is interesting to note that the East India Com-
pany, the world’s first great trade monoply, came into
existence A. D. 1600, just after England had defeated
Spain and had begun her maritime career. Shortly
after its foundation the Engl-ish colonization of North
America began. That was truly the age of the great
adventure, when the world seemed to open up after its
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long sleep during the Dark Ages and offer golden
opportunities to any brave soul who felt the call of
the sea. It was just at this time that the first English
trade settlements were made in India. The East India
Company was created solely for purposes of trade,
and for nearly a century and a half it devoted itself to
these purposes. In 1748, when disturbances broke out
in the Deccan, the Company, in order to quiet these
disturbances, assumed some of the functions of gov-
ernment and war. In those days the distance between
England and India was infinitely greater than today,
and the home government was entirely too much
absorbed in European affairs to pay much attention to
what might be happening in far-off India. The Deccan
disturbances were quelled, and the Company entered
upon its second period, a period of conquest and
assimilation which lasted until the company was de-
stroyed by Act of Parliament in 1858. Of this period
of conquest Seeley says (Expansion of England,
page 180) :

“The conquest of India by English merchants seems a
unique and abnormal phenomenon, but we should be mis-
taken if we supposed that there was anything peculiarly
English, either in the originality which conceived the idea or
in the energy which carried it into execution. So far as an
idea of conquering India was deliberately conceived, it was
conceived by Frenchmen; Frenchmen first perceived that it
was feasible and saw the manner in which it could be done;
Frenchmen first set about it and advanced some way towards
accomplishing it. In India indeed they had the start of us,
much more decidedly than in North America; in India we had
at the outset a sense of inferiority in comparison with them,
and fought in a spirit of hopeless self-defense. And I find,

s,
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when I study the English conquest of India, that we were
actuated neither by ambition nor yet by a mere desire to
advance our trade, but from the first to the last, that is, from
the first efforts of Clive to the time when Lord Wellesley,
Lord Minto and Lord Hastings established our authority over
the whole vast peninsula, we were actuated by the fear of
the French. Behind every movement of the native Powers we
saw French intrigue, French gold, French ambition, and never,
until we were masters of the whole country, got rid of the
feeling that the French were driving us out of it, which had
descended from the days of Dupleix and Labourdonnais.”

James Mill, whose book, 4 History of the British
India, was the first reliable treatise upon the British
Conquest, says:

“The two important discoveries for conquering India were:
first, the weakness of the native armies against European
discipline; second, the facility of imparting that discipline to
natives in the European service. . . ., Both discoveries
were made by the French.”

The truth of the matter is that the natives themselves
conquered India, and this came about solely because, in
the modern sense of the word, there was no India, but
only a vast conglomeration of rival principalities. The
condition was very similar to that of Germany at the
time of Napoleon. Then there were no Germans, as
we now use the word, but there were Prussians, Ba-
varians, Austrians, Suabians, etc., whose rivalries
Napoleon was able to make use of by setting the
soldiery of one petty principality against another, Just
in this way did the East India Company employ natives
against, first the French and later against other natives.
The sepoys made good fighters but poor officers. Dur-
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ing this long struggle the East India Company secured
the services of two of the most remarkable men in
modern history—Lord Clive and Warren Hastings.
About both of these men much hasbeen written, both
for and against, and about both hangs. the glamour of
romance because of the things they actually accom-
plished and also because, to the English mind, there
has always been a tinge of romance and mystery about
everything connected with India, largely due to the
distance between the two countries and the difficulty
to obtain exact facts. Macaulay’s “Essay on Clive”
is a panegyric on English valour. “None could resist
Clive and his Englishmen,” and yet careful and exact
historians, like Seeley, tell us that four-fifths of the
English army was composed of sepoys, and that they
always kept pace with the English in courage and
efficiency. The latest edition of the Encyclopedia
Britannica describes Lord Clive as “the first of a
century’s brilliant successes of those ‘soldier-politicals,’
as they are called in the East, to whom Great Britain
owes the conquest and consolidation of its greatest
dependency.”

Warren Hastings’ career was even more full of those
“slings and arrows of outrageous fortune” which
always create an atmosphere of romance about a man.
In his youth he was a bookkeeper at Calcutta in the
services of the East India Company. In 1771, at the
age of thirty-nine, he was made governor of Bengal
and later became governor-general of East India. In
this position he worked out the first systematic civil
government and put an end to the worst forms of
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corruption which had previously existed among gov-
ernment officials, and the wholesale plundering of
natives. Speaking of the proceedings carried on under
Clive and Hastings, Seeley says:

“Our first step to Empire was very plainly taken with a
view simply of defending our factories. The Madras Presi-
dency grew out of an effort, which in the first instance was
quite necessary, to protect Fort George and Fort David from
the French. The Bengal Presidency grew in a similar way
out of the evident necessity of protecting Fort William and
punishing the Mussulman Nawab of Bengal, Surajah Dowlah,
for his atrocity uf the Black Hole. So far the causation is
clear. In the period which immediately followed the revolu-
tionary and corrupt period of British India, it is undeniable
that we were hurried on by mere rapacity.”

He calls Warren Hastings’ actions at Benares, Oude
and Rohilcund mere “money speculations.” Whatever
they may have been, they gave rise to one of the great-
est, if not the greatest, legal process in history. “The
impeachment of Warren Hastings” is a story that will
be read as long as the English language is spoken. It
dragged on from February, 1788, to April, 1795, and
ended in Hastings’ acquittal in spite of the fact that
he had pitted against him England’s greatest orator,
Edmund Burke. Posterity has endorsed his acquittal
because of the genuine reforms which he introduced
‘in India, but, during his lifetime, he was always the
subject of bitter attack at home because of the cruelty
with which he carried out his reforms. Six years
before the trial against Hastings began, Henry Dundas,
Treasurer of the Admiralty, who later became Lord
Melville and First Lord of the Admiralty, addressed
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the House of Commons for three hours (April 9, 1782)
on the “causes and extent of the national calamities in
the East.” He laid before the House the misconduct
of the Indian Presidencies and of the Court of Direc-
tors of the East India Company, showing that the
former had plunged the nation into wars of conquest,
had condemned and violated treaties and plundered
and oppressed the Indian peoples, while the latter only
blamed misconduct when it had produced no profit
and had systematically glossed over the actions of the
greatest delinquents, whenever these actions had
brought profit to the Company. He ended his speech
with a number of resolutions upon which the House
solemnly voted. At this time there was a strong feel-
ing in England against the proceedings in India, which
produced all sorts of inflammatory articles, even poems.
Thus Cowper wrote of his country:

“That she is rigid in denouncing death

On petty robbers, and indulges life

And liberty, and oft-times honor, too,

To peculators of the public gold.

That thieves at home must hang, but he that puts

Into his over-gorged and bloated purse,
The wealth of India’s provinces escapes.”

After the passage of Pitt’s India Bill (1784) there
was a distinct improvement in the government of India
and far less increase of territory under the East India
Company until the appointment of Lord Wellesley as
Governor-General in 1798. He started the policy of
intervention in native affairs, followed by annexation.
During his administration and that of Lord Hastings,
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his successor, the boundaries of British dominion in
the peninsula were very materially increased. Under
Clive and Warren Hastings the British may be said
to have acquired control of the eastern coast from
Madras to Calcutta; under Lord Wellesley and Lord
Hastings the Mahratta power was completely over-
thrown and British power was established over the
central and western portions of the country. This
period of conquest ended in 1820. From then until the
appointment of Lord Dalhousie as Governor-General
of India and Governor of Bengal in 1848, there was
comparative peace throughout the peninsula. Lord
Dalhousie was Governor-General for nine years and
his administration is in many ways the most notable
of any of those carried out by the East India Com-
pany. The record of the administration by the Com-
pany is notable for the number of very remarkable
men whose services it employed and among these men
no one was more remarkable than James Andrew Ram-
say, first Marquis and tenth Earl of Dathousie. He
was born on April 22nd, 1812, and died on December
19th, 1860. The Encyclopedia Britannica says of
him: ‘

“He crowded into his short life conspicuous public services
in England, and established an unrivaled position among the
master builders of the Indian Empire. Denounced on the
eve of his death, as the chief offender who failed to notice
the signs of the Indian Mutiny of 1857, and even aggravated
the crisis by his overbearing self-consciousness, centralizing
activity and reckless annexations, he stands out in the clear

light of history as the far-sighted Governor-General who
consolidated British rule in India.”
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Seeley speaks of him as “a ruler of the type of Fred-
erick the Great” and says that he “did deeds which
are almost as difficult to justify as the seizure of
Silesia or the Partition of Poland.” Almost immedi-
ately after his arrival in India a fierce rebellion broke
out in the Punjab district. Without waiting for any
instructions from England, Lord Dalhousie quickly
suppressed this rebellion and took over the entire dis-
trict in 1849, taking into his own custody the infant
Maharajah. He inaugurated what is called the “policy
of lapses,” which consisted in annexing to the British
dominions any native Hindu state which had been
created or revived by the British government, in which
there was a failure of the lineal male line of succession.
Under this policy, in 1849, he added to the British
dominions the provinces of Satara, Jaipur and Sam-
balpur. By the same process, in 1853, he annexed
Jhansi and Nagpur. In 1852, as a result of one of
those uprisings among the natives which had constantly
sprung up under the rule of the East India Company,
Dalhousie had conquered Martaban, Rangoon and
Bassein and in 1853 had also annexed Pegu. All of
these annexations had been quietly approved by the
British Government, but in 1856 his war with the
King of Oudh, which was the immediate cause of the
Sepoy Rebellion of 1857 and the final downfall of
the East India Company, aroused a storm of indigna-
tion in England and brought about Lord Dalhousie’s
resignation.

The motto, “Unity of authority coupled with direct
responsibility,” seems to have been the keynote of
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Dalhousie’s policy. In pursuit of this policy he tried
to force the King of Oudh to sign a treaty which left
him, the King, with his throne and an empty title but
deprived him of all administrative authority in his
hereditary dominions. This treaty the King refused
to sign and consequently his Kingdom was made a
part of the British dominions. With this annexation
the conquest of India may be said to be complete.
That there was great dissatisfaction among the native
peoples cannot be denied. Had the British regarded
the religious feelings of the Hindus and Mohamme-
dans, and not done violence to the prejudices of caste,
the conquest might almost be described as one of benev-
olent assimilation and the Sepoy rebellion might never
have taken place. The story of this rebellion as told
by Colonel Malleson in his History of the Indian
Mutiny is one of the gruesome horrors perpetrated
by both sides, and its suppression profoundly stirred
Europe because of the atrocities perpetrated, among
them being the method of executing rebels by binding
them to the mouths of cannons which were then ex-
ploded. The Encyclopedia Britannica in its account
of the mutiny, says, “as early as 1764 it became neces-
sary to stamp out mutiny by blowing thirty Sepoys
from the cannon’s mouth.” Colonel Malleson gives
as the principal cause of the mutiny the bad faith of .
the British Government towards the Sepoys. He says:

“The Government punished the Sepoys for declining to
fulfill a contract which the Government had broken.”

For this he blames Lord Dalhousie, especially for
his annexation of the Kingdom of Qudh. “Of these
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acts,” he says, “of the attempts, as I have termed it,
to disregard the silent growth of ages and to force
Western ideas upon an Eastern people and in the
course of that attempt to trample upon prejudices and
to disregard obligations, the mutiny was the too certain
‘consequence.” With the suppression of the mutiny all
active opposition to British power ceased and in 1858
India came under the direct control of the crown. As
in our Revolution England learned, from the opposi-
tion of the American colonists, how to administer her
English speaking dependencies so as to win their sup-
port to the Empire, so from the mutiny of 1857 she
gained an insight into the workings of the Oriental
mind which she has never lost, and which gained for
her the support of India in the present war. Warren
Hastings was said to have increased the population of
the British Empire by two hundred millions and the
receipts of the state by from three to five million
pounds. Even before the whole history of his admin-
istration was shown forth by the matchless eloguence
of Edmund Burke, Richard Price writing his Obser-
vations on the Nature of Civil Liberty, the Principles
of Justice and the Policy of the War with America,
said in 1776:

“Turn your eyes to India. There more has been done than
is now attempted in America. There Englishmen, actuated
by the love of plunder and the spirit of conquest have de-
populated whole Kingdoms, ruined millions of innocent people
by the most infamous oppression and rapacity. The justice
of the nation has slept over these enormities. Will the
justice of Heaven sleep?”
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Seeley, summing up his account of the conquest,
while acknowledging that it was begun “in pursuit of
trade and had great trade for one of its results,” comes
to the conclusion that under the direct control of the
British government it has developed into a conquest of
a higher plane, that of carrying Western civilization to

the half-buried Eastern world.



CHAPTER V.

ENGLAND AND THE UNITED STATES IN 1812

S a phase of her great struggle with Napoleon,

- England, to her own surprise, found herself once
again involved in war with the United States. After
the treaty of September 3rd, 1783, recognizing the in-
dependence of the former colonies, Benjamin Franklin
said that the war ending with the surrender of Corn-
wallis was simply a war of Revolution and that the
war for the real independence of America had yet to
be fought. Few prophesies have come true more
quickly than this one of Franklin’s. The causes of
the trouble began soon after the adoption of the Con-
stitution by the several states, because of England’s
aggressive policies on the high seas. On November
11th, 1807, Great Britain issued a series of Orders in
Council in which she forbade any neutral trade with
France or her allies, except through Great Britain.
The conditions on the continent were such that this
order prevented neutrals from trading with all the
continental nations but Sweden. The Orders in Coun-
cil also declared that all neutral vessels bound for
France or-any country allied to France must touch at
some British or Irish port, pay re-exportation duties
and upon payment of such duties receive a British
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license to trade with the continent of Europe; that
there should be no exportation from France except in
vessels which had complied with the above conditions
and further that all vessels must return to a British
port and unload.

In retaliation for the British Orders in Council,
Napoleon issued his Milan Decree in which he declared
that any vessel submitting to the conditions set forth
in the British orders forfeited all its rights.

Preparatory to issuing her Orders in Council, Great
Britain had, on October 19th of the same year, 1807,
summoned for service all seamen who had ever served
under the British flag. This was a direct slap at the
United States as it was practically a claim that all
American seamen over twenty years of age were
British subjects. Neutral trade was almost completely
destroyed by the two decrees. President Jefferson
drove the last nail into its coffin by his famous Em-
bargo Act of December 22nd, 1807. Previous to this
time the Americans had built up what was, for those
days, a large ship-building industry and the American
flag was to be found flying bravely in all the Seven
Seas. After the passage of the Embargo the harbors
of New England and the Chesapeake Bay were
crowded with silent ships; business was at a complete
standstill and the future of America looked very dark.

In spite of the calamities to American prosperity dur-
ing his two administrations Jefferson’s personal popu-
larity was undiminished. The people did not forget
that in 1803 he had boldly set aside the constitutional
limitations of his executive power, and had secured for
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his country by his Louisiana purchase, the rich and
fertile Mississippi Valley, so he was again urged to
stand for re-election. This he refused to do, not be-
cause, like Washington, he was wearied by the strain
of a gigantic struggle, but because he wished to estab-
lish a precedent that no man should be president more
than eight years. The precedent thus established be-
came an unwritten law which continued in force with-
out a single attempt to set it aside for a period of one
hundred and four years.

If Jefferson would not risk another election for
himself, he nevertheless determined who should suc-
ceed him to the high office, as he made James Madison
president. Under Madison’s first administration con-
ditions in the country remained unchanged. All Eu-
rope was at war then as it is to-day and then, as now,
the whole world suffered in consequence. Early in
Madison’s administration Mr., Erskine, the British
Minister in Washington, notified the State Department
that he had been informed by Mr. Canning that the
objectionable British Orders in Council would be can-
celled on June 10, 1809. This news was received with
universal rejoicing in America, but alas! almost before
the public celebrations of joy were over, word came
to this country that the Orders were still in force, that
Mr. Erskine had exceeded his instructions and that
he was recalled. Great Britain sent in Mr. Erskine’s
place as Minister Francis James Jackson, who proved
as objectionable to our government as the notorious
Genet whom Washington sent back to France. Jack-
son was recalled and for over a year there was no
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British Minister in this country. In the spring of
1810 Congress passed a bill removing all restrictions
on foreign commerce, but forbidding intercourse with
either France or England, if either continued hostile to
our trade. The public sentiment of the country rightly
condemned this bill as a disgraceful piece of legisla-
tion savoring of bribery to one or the other of the
great powers and it was eventually repealed. In 1811
William Pinckney, one of the ablest diplomats that
our country has ever produced, returned from Eng-
land, where he had spent five years of arduous labor
in an attempt to gain for the United States proper
consideration and treatment. England refused to re-
gard this country as anything but a second-rate power
whose rights upon. the sea were worthy of no con-
sideration.

When our trade with France was reopened, English
vessels blockaded New York for the purpose of cap-
turing all boats bound for France and impressing
American seamen. The affair of the “Guerriére” and
the “President,” trivial as it was, brought matters to
an issue and caused Great Britain to send Mr. Foster
to represent her in Washington. The “Guerri¢re” had
impressed, from a vessel bound for France, an Ameri-
can seaman named Diggio with several others. The
Secretary of the Navy sent in pursuit of the “Guer-
riere” a forty-four gun frigate, the “President,” to -
rescue Diggio and the other Americans, and protect
our commerce and vindicaté the honor of our navy.
While under sail the “President” sighted a boat
thought to be the “Guerriére.” On the demand “What
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ship is that?” a shot was fired which lodged in the main
mast of the “President”; a skirmish ensued in which
one boy on the “President” was wounded. At day-
break the opposing ship was found to be a British cor-
vette of twenty guns, named the “Little Belt.” As a
. result of the skirmish seventy-two men on the “Little
Belt” were killed and twenty-one wounded. Shortly
after this affair Mr. Foster arrived in the United
States, but when it was found that he had no power
to repeal the obnoxious Orders in Council feeling in
this country ran very high. The President and his
cabinet were opposed to war, as was a large portion
of Congress, but, as has so often happenéd in the
world’s history, the jingoes prevailed.

In December, 1811, a new session of Congress, the
twelfth, entered upon its duties. This Congress, in
its makeup, was very different from its immediate
predecessors, because of the infusion of new and
younger blood into its councils. Two members of the
House, who afterwards became very prominent in
American affairs, first came before the public at this
time. They were Henry Clay of Kentucky and John
C. Calhoun of South Carolina. Clay was elected to
the speakership of the House, a position which he held
for many years. That this Congress would accept
from England nothing less than an unqualified repeal
of the Orders in Council was soon evident, and this
Mr. Foster had no authority to grant. A bill to raise
the army from ten thousand to thirty-five thousand
men passed both Houses and a loan of eleven million
dollars was authorized. In April, 1812, Congress or-
dered the President to call for one hundred thousand
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volunteers and to declare an Embargo for ninety days
in order to make needed preparations in the navy.
On June Ist the President sent to Congress a message
in which he gave four reasons for war with Great
Britain. They were:

First—The impressment of American seamen.

Second—The harassing of our shipping by British
cruisers along our coast.

Third—The pretended blockade of European coasts
and the plundering of American ships.

Fourth—The British Orders in Council.

In the spring of 1812 the administration had pur-
chased from an Irishman named John Henry, for the
sum of fifty thousand dollars, papers showing that
during Jefferson’s embargo he had been employed by
the Governor-General of Canada as secret agent in
New England to connive with the Federalists, who
were supposed to be strongly pro-English in feeling,
to bring about a separation of the New England states
from the Union. Mr. Madison felt that these papers
showed a widespread conspiracy to break up the union
of the states. While the agitation in Congress was
going on Mr. Foster, the British Minister, tried to
prevail upon his government to repeal the Orders in
Council, but, as Spencer Perceval, who was then
prime-minister, would not consider for a moment any
possibility of the United States declaring war upon
Great Britain, the Orders continued in force. On the
11th of May Mr. Perceval was assassinated, and on
June 23rd the Orders were repealed—but it was then
too late, for on June 18th, 1812, Congress declared
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that a state of war existed between the United States
and Great Britain. This declaration of war was unique
in its form, as it was the first formal declaration of war
enacted by law through all the deliberative forms of
two distinct and independent houses in a Congress
elected by an entire people, and indicated the consti-
tutional transfer of the power of declaring war from
the executive to the legislative branch of a national
government. This power had been vested in the
Congress by the Constitution, ratified 1787, as a pledge
of peace and a preventive of wanton warfare and
was a gift first conferred on mankind by American in-
stitutions. The news of the declaration was recetved
in England, according to Green, with surprise and
derision. The British government considered our
army and navy almost worthy of contempt and our
republican institutions a menace to the peace of the
world. Parliament declared that the Orders in Coun-
cil, which had caused such resentment in the United
States, had been a justifiable measure of self-defense
which had finally been repealed before the news of
the declaration of war had reached England. On July
31st, 1812, Great Britain, as a war measure, ordered
an embargo for the detention of all American ships in
European waters. In America the declaration of war,
instead of unifying the nation, threatened the dissolu-
tion of the republic. When the President called out
the militia, Massachusetts, Connecticut and Rhode
Island flatly refused to contribute either men or money.
To the citizens of those states the prosecution of the
war seemed worse than hopeless—suicidal in fact.
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The United States navy consisted of six first class
frigates and twelve smaller vessels, while the English
navy boasted of nearly a thousand ships. Against such
odds there were certain existing conditions which gave
some hope to America. England was heavily involved
in the European struggle with Napoleon, and her navy
was scattered; on the other hand the tiny American
navy was in the hands of young and able men who
had been brought up on the sea, and Canada, Britain’s
vulnerable point, was open to attack all along the
border. The war opened with a defeat which would
have discouraged an older nation, especially as the
defeat was attended with disgrace. President Madison
had appointed General Dearborn commander-in-chief
of the army. When war broke out Dearborn was in
Boston and for some time he dallied between there
and Albany trying to.gather in troops. At that time
William Hull was governor of the territory of Michi-
gan, and Detroit was a trading post of eight hundred
inhabitants. Rumors came pouring into Detroit that
the British were advancing in great force against this
point. Without waiting a decent time for reinforce-
ments, or even long enough to verify the reports as to
the British advance, Governor Hull surrendered the
territory without even attempting to resist. Great Brit-
ain at once jumped to the conclusion that at a reason-
able advance of British soldiery the whole country
would go to pieces and easily again come under the
authority of the British crown. It is not my intention
to go into the story of the war, which lasted nearly
three years. The Americans were continually defeated
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on land and won no decisive victory until Jackson
won the battle of New Orleans, which took place
actually after peace had been declared. On the sea,
however, the little American nation first found herself.
Since the days of the Armada England had practically
met with no naval defeat, and, in consequence, had
come to regard herself as “mistress of the seas.” On
August 19, 1912, a battle took place between the
British ship “Guerriére” and the “Constitution,” in
which the former was defeated. This aroused great
enthusiasm in the States and was regarded, even in
Great Britain, as a blow to English naval supremacy.
Henry Adams says of it: “A small affair it might
appear among the world’s battles; it took but half
an hour, but in that half hour the United States rose
to the rank of a first-class power.” The year of 1812
was truly a glorious one in the annals of the history
of the American navy. In that year, in addition to
the skirmish between the “Guerriére” and the “Con-
stitution,” the United States ship “Essex” destroyed
the “Alert,” the “Wasp” and the British “Frolic,”
and the “United States” vanquished the ‘“Mace-
donian.” In this last battle Stephen Decatur, for-
ever dear to the American sailor, was in command.
The year’s record of victories was rounded out by the
defeat of the “Java” by the “Constitution” on De-
cember 29th, making two battles in which that ship
had been victorious. When the news of these de-
feats reached England it seemed to Parliament in-
credible that such reports could be true. Canning
said to the House of Commons: “It cannot be too
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deeply felt that the sacred spell of the invincibility of
the British navy is broken.” During 1813 in the war
on the sea, honors were more evenly divided.

It was in this year, on June lst, that the famous
fight between the “Chesapeake” and the “Shannon”
took place. The story of this fight, like that of the
Battle of Bunker Hill in the Revolution, is one that
has always been peculiarly dear to the American heart,
although in both cases the British won the victory.
At Bunker Hill the Minute-men showed that they
could bear defeat and yet go on to victory, while in
the fight between the “Chesapeake” and the “Shan-
non,” the dying David Lawrence uttered the words,
“Don’t give up the ship,” which have ever since been
the chosen motto of our navy. In this battle the Eng-
lish lost eighty-three men and the Americans one
hundred and forty-five. To those in Parliament as-
sembled it seemed that the tide had turned, and that
British naval supremacy had again asserted itself, but
at the end of 1813 the record stood as follows: The
English had captured seven American ships, mount-
ing one hundred and nineteen guns, and the Ameri-
cans had captured twenty-six British ships, mounting
five hundred and sixty guns. When one remembers
the difference in size between the two navies, one
realizes that such victories as the Americans had won
could do no actual harm to the British navy, but,
nevertheless, the whole world recognized the truth
of Canning’s words, that the spell of the invincibility
of the British navy had been broken. In 1813 the
Americans won another victory of far-reaching con-
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sequence, this time on an inland sea, far from any
base of supplies. On September 10th Commodore
Oliver H. Perry, with a small squadron of boats built
on the shores of Lake Erie, met the fleet which Great
Britain used to patrol the Great Lakes, and defeated
them near Put-in-Bay, opposite the city of Sandusky.

His message announcing his victory to Congress,
“We have met the enemy and they are ours,” was
typical of the whole spirit of his campaign, which has
settled forever, we hope, the status of those inland
waters. Aside from her tiny navy, the United States
made very effective use of privateers during the Three
Years’ War. The Government licensed two hundred
and fifty of these small craft, and they made several
hundred captures and succeeded in making both the
Irish Sea and the English Channel unsafe for British
merchant ships. In thirty-seven days the sloop “True
Blooded Yankees” not only captured a town on the
coast of Scotland and burned seven ships, but also
captured twenty-seven vessels. The “Surprise” took
twenty prizes in one month, and the “Leo” captured
an East Indian merchantman with a booty of two
million five hundred thousand dollars. It is un-
doubtedly true that the activities of the privateers had
much to do with hastening the end of the war, which
had never been popular in either country. During
the peace discussion one event took place which was
regarded with equal opprobrium in both England and
America. The British army attacked the defenseless
city of Washington and set fire to the Capitol, the
White House, the navy yard and all public buildings,
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except the Patent Office, destroying public records and
archives which were of priceless value to the Gov-
ernment of the United States. This proceeding was
denounced in the British Parliament as “an outrage,
inconsistent with civilized warfare,” one might call
it a work of the “Huns” of those days. Flushed with
their victory at Washington the British advanced
against Baltimore, but were there repulsed. This at-
tempt on Baltimore will be ever memorable because,
during the attack on Fort William Henry, Francis
Scott Key had rowed out to the British fleet under a
flag of truce to arrange for the parole of a brother
soldier and had been detained all night on a British
ship. It was while in detention and eagerly watch-
ing to see whether the attack on the fort was success-
ful that he composed “The Star Spangled Banner,”
which has become our national anthem. While the
arbitrators for peace were in session in Ghent, in the
autumn of 1814, the news of Jackson’s victory at
New Orleans, the first real American victory on land,
reached Europe and ended the war. Before this news
had been received the British Commissioners had de-
manded the cession to Canada of a portion of Maine
and Northern New York, and that a large territory
in the Northwest, between the Ohio River and the
Great Lakes, should be reserved for the Indians and
regarded as neutral territory. The failure of the
British to capture Baltimore and their defeat at New
Orleans caused Great Britain to greatly modify her
demands. The United States was compelled to yield
on the impressment question, but the boundaries of



ENGLAND AND THE UNITED STATES 55

1783 were agreed upon, and peace was made with the
Indian tribes. The questions of future boundaries, the
Newfoundland fisheries’ rights and the navigation of
the Mississippi River were left open for future dis-
cussion to be settled by arbitration. From the British
standpoint the war was a costly blunder, as no addi-
tional territory was gained, no new principle estab-
lished and no friend won, while the destructiont of
their capital city had deeply offended the American
people and left a wound which rankled for many
years. By using conciliatory measures towards the
United States, during Jefferson’s administration, and
opening her ports to United States commerce, Great
Britain could have dealt Napoleon a staggering blow
and have won America’s enthusiastic support against
France, which had almost equally offended the sensi-
bilities of the United States. This she consistently did
not do, and as a consequence she lost, for a time
at least, her exclusive monopoly of the seas, thousands
of precious lives and millions of money.

Although in comparison with her resources, the war
cost this country infinitely more than it had cost Great
Britain, as she lost thirty thousand lives and a hun-
dred million dollars, yet the war was of distinct value
to the young Republic, for by her successes upon the
seas she gained commercial independence and that
complete separation from Europe which was so neces-
sary for her material development. Until the final
settlement at Ghent, in December, 1814, Europe had
regarded with almost contempt the attempt to estab-
lish a Republican form of government which would
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be capable of permanent development or of carrying
on war. The little war of 1812 showed to Europe
that both of these things were possible, and aroused
in the various states which formed the American Re-
public the first really national feeling that the country
had ever known. Why I have placed an outline of
this particular war in the midst of an account of the
upbuilding of the British Empire will be shown in a
later chapter.



CHAPTER VI,
ENGLAND AFTER THE FALL OF NAPOLEON.

EFORE describing the methods by which Great

Britain, after the fall of Napoleon, built up her
splendid world-wide empire to its present dimensions
it is necessary to tell of an expedition which took
place during the height of the Napoleonic struggle, in
order to understand exactly with what consistency
Great Britain has regarded the integrity of small na-
tions. The peace of Tilsit, between Napoleon and
the Czar Alexander, was signed on the 7th of July,
1807, and Continental Europe breathed a sigh of re-
lief\ but almost before the ink was dry upon the treaty
secret arrangements were being made to again plunge
Europe into war, and this time England started the
conflagration. Rumors reached Canning that when
the Emperor and the Czar had met at Tilsit, on June
25th, they had made a secret agreement by which
Napoleon would gain control of Schleswig-Holstein
and cut the British navy off from any communication
with the Baltic Sea. We have seen how in Crom-
well’s day England prevented a similar move between
Denmark and Holland. A report of this agreement
was placed in Canning’s hands on July 21st, and on
July 26th a British fleet, under command of Admiral
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Gambier, was ordered to the Baltic. On August 3rd,
at a conference between the English Minister to Den-
mark, Mr. Taylor, and Count Bernstorff, the Danish
Minister of Foreign Affairs, the former stated that
he had positive information that a secret agreement
against England had been entered into between
France and Russia, and that Denmark was a party to
that agreement. Later in August, Canning announced
that his government was positively informed that
France had already taken possession of Schleswig and
Holstein.

When Canning was questioned by the House of
Commons, he replied that “the ministers have not said
that they had in their possession any one secret article,
but that the substance of such secret article had been
confidentially communicated to His Majesty’s Gov-
ernment, and that such communication had been made
a long time previous to the date alluded to by the
honorable gentleman.” In the Declaration of West-
minster, given out on September 25th, it is stated
“that the English Government had received the most
positive information of the determination of the pres-
ent ruler of France to occupy with a military force
the territory of Holstein for the purpose of exclud-
ing Great Britain from all her accustomed channels
of communication ; of inducing or compelling the court
of Denmark to close the passage of the Sound against
the British commerce and navigation; and of availing
himself of the aid of the Danish marine for the in-
vasion of Great Britain and Ireland.” This declara- -
tion was, as I have said, made public on September
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25th, but previous to this, on July 28th, a special
Minister, Mr. Jackson, was appointed to the Danish
Court, and on the next day, July 29th, he received
from the Secretary of State his instructions, which
were in Mr. Canning’s own handwriting and marked
“very confidential.”

A portion of these instructions reads as follows:

“You will carefully bear in mind that the possession of
the Danish fleet is the one main and indispensable object to
which the whole of your negotiations is to be directed and
without which no other stipulation or concession can be con-
sidered as of any value or importance. In the event, there-
fore, of the Danish Government even consenting to enter into
a treaty of alliance, as proposed in the project with which
you are furnished, it will be necessary that a secret article
should be added to this treaty by which the delivery of the
Danish fleet must be stipended to take place forthwith and
without waiting for the formality of the ratification of the
treaty.”

The negotiations between Mr. Jackson and Count
Bernstorff were fruitless. In spite of protests, British
soldiers landed, on August 16th, at Vibeck, between
Copenhagen and Helsingor. On September 2nd the
bombardment of Copenhagen began, and was continued
for three days. During the bombardment the cathe-
dral, a number of the university buildings and over
three hundred houses were burned. In the end the
city capitulated, and the British took forcible posses-
sion of the entire Danish fleet. Erik Mgéller, the
Danish historian, in his account of this expedition
against Denmark, published in 1910, quotes Council-
lor Manthey, who says:
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“Today, when the whole veil is rent which hitherto con-
cealed from princes and peoples England’s selfishness and
ambition, let us consider whether so many a crown would
have been brought low and so many a flourishing land dev-
astated if England’s policy, England’s gold and England’s
secret crimes had not been the great ferment by which, in our
remarkable generation, the excited masses were brought to
revolt and by which dissolutions, separations and new alliances
were brought about, and everything tended toward an altered
state of affairs whose eventual realization was to cost mankind
much blood and many tears.”

Maéller, in the same book, publishes the secret agree-
ment between Napoleon and the Czar, which did, un-
der certain conditions, provide for pressure being put
upon Denmark, but differed entirely from the asser-
tions made by Canning. He also states that the
Duchies of Schleswig and Holstein had never been
occupied by French troops. The general indignation
which was aroused by the British assault upon Copen-
hagen was not confined to Continental Europe, but
was even more strongly expressed in England. In
the Political Review for September, 1807, the whole
proceeding is described as “a scene of complicated
iniquity.” The Review says: “If anything could add
to that disgust, that horror which we feel whenever we
contemplate the subject, it is the language of humanity
and piety affected by our commander-in-chief em-
ployed in this expedition.”” When Parliament opened
its session in January, 1808, the address from the
throne commended the Danish expedition as a glori-
ous deed. Six members of the House of Lords pro-
tested against this commendation “because no proof
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of hostile intention on the part of Denmark has been
adduced, nor any case of necessity made out to justify
the attack upon Copenhagen, without which the meas-
ure is, in our conception, discreditable to the charac-
ter and injurious to the interests of this country.”
Lord Erskine, in his individual protest, says:

“No speculation of the probable fall of the Danish fleet into
the possession or power of France would justify its hostile
seizure by Great Britain; that such a seizure would be sub-
versive of the first elements of public law, and that, until
this attack upon Copenhagen shall receive vindication by proof
of its justice, Great Britain has lost her moral situation in
the world.”

While protests were being made in the House of
Lords, the renowned orator, William Windham, who
had only recently been made a member of the Cabinet,
said, in the House of Commons, “the only way left of
effacing the stains thus brought upon the country was
the public disavowal of their atrocity,” and he openly
accused the ministry of having deliberately sacrificed
the national reputation, declaring that “the ruins of
Copenhagen are monuments to their disgrace.”” Some
years later, in 1822, Thomas Campbell, the poet, in
some verses dedicated to a Danish friend, said:

“That attack, I allow, was a scandalous matter;

It was the deed of our merciless Tories,

Whom we hate, though they rule us, and I can assure you
They had swung for it if England had sat as their jury.”

'Flower’s “Political Review—Reflections on the War With
Denmark.” .

*Parliamentary Register for 1808, Volume I.
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Later historians, in treating of this “little war,” are
naturally far less heated than the men speaking and
writing at the time.

In volume 9 of the Cambridge Modern History,
H. W. Wilson, of Trinity College, Oxford, attempts
to justify it by saying: “That the attack was necessary
no one will now deny. England was fighting for her
existence, and, however disagreeable was the task of
striking a weak neutral, she risked her own safety if
she left in Napoleon’s hands a fleet of such propor-
tions.” How strangely similar these words are to the
excuses put forth by another power in our own day,
and almost universally condemned by the American
press! J. Holland Rose, in the same volume from
which I have just quoted, says:

“Great Britain suffered a loss of moral reputation which
partly outweighed the gain brought by the accession of ma-
terial strength to her navy and the added sense of security.

“The peoples of the Continent, unaware of the reasons
which prompted the action of Great Britain, regarded it as a
little better than piratical.”

After Napoleon was finally defeated at Waterloo,
in 1815, the sovereigns of Europe met together, united
in one determined purpose, which was to utterly stamp
out the democratic ideas which had permeated Europe
during and after the French Revolution, and to restore
the status quo ante. In all of these conferences the
master mind was that of Prince Metternich, De-
mocracy’s most implacable foe. During the Napole-
onic upheaval a new republic had sprung into exist-
ence at the eastern end of the Mediterranean called
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“The United States of the Ionian Islands,” which was
composed of Corfu, Cephalonia, Zakythos, Paxos,
Tthaca and Cythera. In the general re-arrangement
of European affairs this Ionian Republic was de-
clared a free and independent state, whose neutrality
was guaranteed by a treaty signed by Great Britain,
Russia, Austria and Prussia, and this state was placed
under the protection of Great Britain, and its gov-
ernment was to be administered by a Lord High Com-
missioner endowed with both legislative and executive
power. Speaking of this new government, Lord Mor-
ley, in his Life of Gladstone, says, “A Constitu-
tional Charter of 1817 formed a government that soon
became despotic enough to satisfy Metternich him-
self.”

Until 1847 the Lord High Commissioner exercised
absolute power in the islands. During this period the
story of the islands is one of continual outbreaks by
the people, which were ruthlessly suppressed by virtue
of the “power of high police” vested in the Lord High
Commissioner, who was particularly brutal in the
manner in which he suppressed the press. Among the
reasons for dissatisfaction was the desire of the in-
habitants of the islands to become a part of the King-
dom of Greece, with which people they were closely
connected by the ties of common blood and common
speech. The central government in London was con-
stantly annoyed by chronic uprisings, caused largely
by the tyranny of the British Governor, and condi-
tions of land ownership and agriculture. In 1858 Mr.
Gladstone was sent out to the islands to introduce
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reforms and to report to the home government as to
the exact condition of affairs. His report was never
published, because it was agreed by the colonial office
that such publication was not expedient, owing to the
excited condition of public opinion, so it was filed in
the archives of the colonial office. In spite of Mr.
Gladstone’s efforts, conditions continued to grow
steadily worse, and the British protectorate was
abolished in 1864, England retaining for herself the
island of Malta, which she deemed necessary for her
protection in the Mediterranean.

The years immediately following the fall of Napo-
leon were years of recuperation, readjustment and com-
parative peace. Great Britain, outside of the British
Isles,was mainly occupied with strengthening her power
in India. All fear of France was forever removed, but
the development of India turned the attention of the
British Government to the administration and ambitions
of the Empire of Russia. From 1817 to the end of the
century, the fear of Russia loomed large in the minds
of England’s rulers, and governed their entire foreign
policy.

The first active conflict between the two Powers
took place in Afghanistan. In this unhappy country
English and Russian interests were everywhere op-
posed, and everywhere Russia seemed to have the
advantage and to stand in favor with Dost Mo-
hammed, the ruler of the eastern territory, who re-
sided in Kabul. Russia and Persia, in alliance with
Dost Mohammed, attacked Herat, the capital of the
western district, in 1836. At this time Lord Auck-
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land was Governor-General of India, and he considered
the time ripe for British intervention, in order to pro-
tect the Indian boundary from any possible Russian
advance. Making an alliance with the Sikhs he pro-
ceeded to depose Dost Mohammed and set up in his
place an unpopular pretender who had been expelled
from the country and was living in exile. This action
of Lord Auckland’s was approved by the Home Gov-
ernment and caused rejoicing in London.

In 1841 the native Afghans revolted against the
ruler who had been imposed upon them contrary to
their wishes. In the conflict which ensued, the British
troops were completely defeated and compelled to leave
the country. Akbar Khan, the son of Dost Mo-
hammed, had been the leader of the revolt. He fol-
lowed the retreating British army and eventually took
under his protection the large number of women and
children who were with the British and who not only
suffered great hardship, because of the severity of the
winter, but were in constant danger, as the army was
continually attacked by fanatical mountain tribes.
After several thousand of the British had lost their
lives, the remainder of the army found itself trapped
in the Jugdulluk Pass, where they were brutally
massacred ; only one man out of the original sixteen
thousand escaped, and he found refuge under the walls
of Diellibad, where a British garrison was maintained.
Akbar Khan tried in vain to gain this garrison, but
was driven back by re-enforcements of British, under
General Pollock, and the siege was raised. On October
1, 1842, Lord Ellenborough, who had succeeded Lord
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Auckland as Governor-General of India, declared that
“India would remain content with the limits that
Nature appears to have assigned to its empire.”

When the news of the massacre of Jugdulluk Pass
and the utter defeat of the British expedition and the
re-instatement of Dost Mohammed reached England,
it was received with stupefaction. The action of the
Government was attacked on all sides. David Urqu-
hart, a brilliant Scotch author, wrote a polemic against
the Edinburgh Review, which had defended the war,
in which he introduced an imaginary dialogue between
Lord Palmerston, then, and for long afterwards, in
charge of Foreign Affairs, and a Privy Councillor.
It describes the situation so trenchantly that I quote it:

Lord Palmerston: “We must march to Kabul, dethrone its
ruler and set up another.”

Councillor: “Are we attacked by the Afghans? Are treaties
violated?”

Lord P.: “No, none of these things. But Dost Mohammed
is friendly to Persia, and Persia is friendly to Russia; there-
fore, we must destroy him.”

Councillor: “But what do you propose to do with Persia?”

Lord P.: “Oh, Persia is beaten back, the siege of Herat is
raised, and we have nothing to fear from her.”

Councillor: “What do you propose to do with Russia?”

Lord P.: “Oh, Russia has sent to us the most satisfactory
assurances, and we have nothing to fear from her, quite the
contrary; indeed, she can do nothing, for her missions and
expeditions have utterly failed.”

Councillor: “The danger is over, you are satisfied with the
power whence it sprang, and after that you go to send armies
into the territory of a friendly people!”
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Summing up his account of the whole affair, Urqu-
hart further says:

“Into Central Asia we march an army among a people so
friendly as to be ready to even accept our government—we
set up a pretender—we support the perpetration of every
internal folly and crime—we do everything that can arouse
a people, already subject to us through good will and respect,
into hatred and contempt. Our army is destroyed. We make
up our minds that we shall have nothing to do with the
country, and yet we send an army there again to ravish and
destroy without even the thought of retaining possession, so
that the contrast between the Mongols and the British is this
—that the first destroyed and ravished by calculation and
without either hatred or vengeance, and that our troops, com-
posed of so-called citizens and Christians, and sent forth
from a country honoring itself with the name of Britain,
esteeming itself enlightened, philanthropic and religious, ap-
pear there without any calculation, to devastate and destroy,
moved only by hatred and vengeance. As to the pretext that
we marched to regain the prisoners, however it might have
served for the cry of the moment, it is-too hollow and absurd
to refer to now. The prisoners could have been endangered
only by the step we took; and for them to be returned to us
it required that we should cease to reperpetrate crime and to
hold as a slave the Prince whom we had so cruelly dethroned.”

Justin McCarthy, from whose History of Our Own
Times I have gathered most of the facts related in
this chapter, calls the history of these years, 1839 to
1842,

“a tale of such misfortune, blunder and humiliation as the
annals of England do not anywhere else present. Blunders
which were, indeed, worse than crimes and a principle of
action which it is a crime in any ruler to sanction, brought
things to such a pass that in a few years from the accession
of the Queen we had in Afghanistan soldiers who were posi-
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tively afraid to fight the enemy and some English officials who
were not ashamed to treat for the removal of our most for-
midable foes by purchased assassination. This chapter will
teach us how vain is a policy founded on evil and ignoble
principles, We had gone completely out of our way for the
purpose of meeting mere speculative dangers.”

After this unfortunate experience England kept
practically out of Afghanistan for forty years, but in
1879 there was again a revolution in Kabul, and on
September 3rd, of that year, the entire British legation
was massacred. As a result of this massacre, after
several skirmishes with the Afghans, England was
again compelled to withdraw and to give up her de-
mand for a permanent British legation at Kabul. - It
was not until her agreement with Russia, nearly thirty
years later, that the Afghanistan question could be con-
sidered settled, but that Anglo-Russian agreement of
1907 will be described in another chapter.

About the same time that she was attempting to
impose upon Afghanistan a ruler 'whom the people
would not accept, England tried, for purposes of trade,
to compel the Chinese Empire to admit into its terri-
tory-a commodity which China both feared and hated.
The story of the “Opium War” is not a pretty story,
but is of interest to us because the United States, in
spite of its policy of not mixing in European affairs,
was outspoken in its condemmation of the opium
trade. Morse, in his history of The International
Relations of the Chinese Empire, says:

“Public opinion in America was pronounced against the
opium trade. Of the Protestant missionaries in China dur-
ing the years 1834 to 1860, it may be said generally that the
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Americans outnumbered the English in the proportion of two
to one; and their reports to the home societies produced a
marked effect upon the deeply religious sense of the American
people.”

During the negotiations of the years 1832 to 1844
the representative of the United States was the only
one who strongly supported the Chinese Government
in its efforts to prevent the importation of opium, and
even before these negotiations, a number of Ameri-
can merchants had declined to trade in opium on moral
grounds. The opium trade into China was first intro-
duced by the East India Company, which controlled the
cultivation of poppies in India. After the powers of
the company were curtailed, in 1784, the government
monopolized the cultivation of the poppy. At first
the trade into China was confined to smuggling, as
the Chinese Government absolutely forbade all im-
portation of opium because of the horrible moral and
physical effects resulting from the use of this drug.
In spite of the efforts of China to entirely suppress
this trade, the smuggling went on, because the British
Government took no measures to prevent it. Great
Britain officially declared that she would not protect
British subjects when carrying on a trade which was
contrary to the laws of the country with which they
were trading, but this declaration was never taken
seriously, as no provisions were made for enforcing
it. Towards the end of the year 1837, the Chinese
Emperor, Suan Tsung, took a decisive step by order-
ing the Governor of Canton to demand the delivering
to the government of all contraband stores of opium.
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Twenty thousand cases were seized and burned by the
authorities. The British agent in Canton appealed to
the Governor-General of India for aid to protect the
lives and property of British subjects which had been
attacked. This was the beginning of the so-called
Opium War which lasted from February, 1840, to
August, 1841. As a result of this war, Hong Kong
was ceded to Great Britain, and the Chinese Gov-
ernment was forced to open five harbors to European
trade and to pay $6,250,000 for the opium which had
been destroyed as well as a war indemnity of
$22,500,000. When the complete accounts of this war
began to reach England, the conscience of the people
was greatly aroused. Mr. Gladstone, addressing the
House, said:
“I am not competent to judge how long this war may last.
but this I can say, that a war more unjust in its
origin, a war more calculated in its progress to cover this
country with disgrace, I do not know and I have not read of.”
The opium question was not finally settled until 1858,
when a treaty was signed by which China agreed,
under pressure, to sanction a trade which it had been
unable to suppress and thus make of it a legitimate
source of income.

Through that fear of Russia, which had grown out
of the control of India and which was only ended by
the partition of Persia, in 1907, the British Govern-
ment has been led into various and devious conflicts,
the most futile of which was the Crimean War. This
war was almost entirely the work of Lord Palmer-
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ston, who regarded Russia very much as Pitt had re-
garded France. McCarthy says:

“He (Palmerston) believed from the first that the pre-
tensions of Russia would have to be put down by force of
arms and could not be put down in any other way; he believed
that the danger to England from the aggrandizement of Rus-
sia was a capital danger calling for any extent of national
sacrifice to avert it. He believed that war with Russia was
inevitable, and he preferred taking it sooner to taking it
later. . . . He understood better than anyone else the
prevailing temper of the English people.”

The war was undertaken for the support of Turkey
and to preserve the “balance of power” in Europe.
The only participant who reaped any real profit from
it was the French Emperor, Louis Napoleon, whose
prestige in Europe was greatly increased. Peace was
signed in Paris in 1856. What England learned, as a
result of the war, was that her military organization,
especially on the sanitary side, was wholly inadequate
and inefficient. This was plainly shown in that re-
markable novel by Richard Dehan, entitled, Between
Two Thieves, which, next to Tolstoi’s War and
Peace, gives the best picture of the horrors of this
unnecessary war. From its inception the war had
been opposed by many of the clearest thinkers in Eng-
land, notable among them being John Bright, whom
Lord Salisbury described as the ‘‘greatest English
orator of his century.” During the preliminary peace
negotiations, which were held at Vienna, John Bright
said: “The Angel of Death has been abroad through-
out the land ; you may almost hear the beating of his
wings.” The inability of the belligerents to agree
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upon the neutralization of the Black Sea brought the
negotiations at Vienna to an end, and to gain this point
Palmerston prolonged the war for another year. Rus-
sia was compelled to consent to this neutralization, but
in 1870, when France was at war with Prussia, she
availed herself of the opportunity and repudiated the
agreement about the Black Sea, so that all of Eng-
land’s efforts in that direction had been in vain. Bright
had vigorously opposed, with all the force of his splen-
did oratory, the principle of waging wars to preserve
the balance of power, also alliances which had only
that end in view. That he was right in his theory the
present conflict in Europe is an eloquent proof.



CHAPTER VIIL

ENGLAND IN EGYPT.

N order to round out and complete the story

of the growth of the British Empire during the
Nineteenth Century, a brief account must be given of
the acquisition of Egypt, which, only last year (1915),
was declared by Sir Edward Grey to be formally an-
nexed to the British Empire. From the time of the
French Revolution, when Napoleon made his spectacu-
lar assault upon Egypt, until the latter part of the
Nineteenth Century, the country of the Pharaohs has
been a bone of contention between France and Eng-
land. In 1864 Ferdinand de Lesseps found that all
his efforts to finance his project of a canal through
the Isthmus of Suez were being thwarted by Lord
Palmerston, whose agent stirred up opposition to the
project in Constantinople. So short-sighted was Lord
Palmerston as to the tremendous advantages which
the building of this canal would bring to the entire
world, that he stated in Parliament “that in the opinion
of the British Government the canal was a physical
impossibility ; that if it was made it would injure Brit-
ish maritime supremacy; and that the project was
merely a device for French interference in the East.”
In spite of British opposition, de Lesseps, in 1866,
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secured the needed concession from the Sultan and
proceeded to build the canal, which was opened for
traffic in November, 1869. In 1875 Disraeli, who was
always an idealist and dreamer of empire, purchased
from the Khedive his canal stock, amounting to
176,602 shares, for four million sterling. This pur-
chase the Prime Minister carried through on his own
personal responsibility, with the assistance of the great
banking house of Rothschild, and even after it was
accomplished, it was regarded by the British Gov-
ernment and people with very mixed feelings. That
it was a bit of far-sighted wisdom on the part of
Disraeli has long since been recognized, and this trans-
action really marks the beginning of British interests
in Egypt. At the time of the purchase, the reigning
Khedive, Ismail, found himself overwhelmed with
debt, owing to the failure of most of his schemes for
personal aggrandizement, including the Abyssinian
War. His relations with France had been such that
he feared to apply to the French Government for
financial assistance, and, as his needs were desperate,
he made overtures to the English Government through
Colonel Staunton, in the autumn of 1875, In the mat-
ter of the building of the canal, Egypt had become very
suspicious of the ultimate motives of the French Gov-
ernment, so when Ismail decided to sell his shares in
the canal, it was natural that he should first offer them
to the European Power which was most friendly to
the Ottoman Empire. Disraeli was, for a time, blamed
for involving England in a transaction which was
bound to have serious political consequences, as at
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that time the British Government was not disposed
to enter into any complicated situation in the East.
Ismail was also undoubtedly responsible for Mr. Cave’s
mission to Egypt, which almost immediately followed
the purchase of the canal shares. He seemed to think
that he had discovered a new source of supplies upon
which he might draw indefinitely, and, in order to re-
cover his credit upon the European stock exchanges,
he wished to secure some public testimonial as to his
solvency. Mr. Cave, who was sent out by the British
Government, was evidently an honorable and public-
spirited man, but he was utterly ignorant of the East,
and soon became a tool in the hands of the Khedive.
It was Ismail’s policy to dazzle distinguished financial
visitors, whose aid he desired to enlist with a show of
Oriental magnificence and power, and to prevent them
from seeing any of the nakedness and poverty of the
land. Had Mr. Cave understood anything of the work-
ings of the Oriental mind, he would have soon dis-
covered that Ismail’s debts were the result of purely
personal extravagance and were in no sense of the
word national, but he was completely deceived, and,
by his report to his home government, led to the recog-
nition of Ismail’s debts as a public obligation, and so
brought about political intervention. The story of the
British occupation of Egypt has best been told in two
books, which are fairly well known in this country,
and it is from these two books that I have gotten most
of the facts mentioned in this chapter. These books
are Modern Egypt, by Lord Cromer, and Seeret
History of the English Occupation of Egypt, by Wil-
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frid Scawen Blunt. Lord Cromer’s career in Egypt
began after the defeat of Arabi Pasha and the first
active English intervention. As a careful and graphic
account of the upbuilding of British power which
finally resulted in actual annexation to the British Em-
pire, his book is an invaluable document, but he was
not at Cairo during any part of the Revolutionary
period, and in his writings he always assumed that the
“official truth” was the only truth. Mr. Blunt first
visited Egypt in 1875, and ever since then has resided
in that country for a large portion of each year, and
was personally intimate with all of the participants in
the drama which has resulted in the elimination of this
ancient land as a politically independent nationality.
Speaking of his first visit, he says:

“I was as yet, though not perhaps even then enthusiastically
so, a believer in the common English creed that England had
a providential mission in the East, and that our wars were
waged there for honest and beneficent reasons. Nothing was
further from my mind than that we English could ever be
guilty, as a nation, of a great betrayal of justice in arms for
our mere selfish interests.”

Within less than three years after Disraeli’s pur-
chase of the canal shares came the war between Rus-
sia and Turkey, which ended in the spring of 1878.
In this war Russia was everywhere victorious, and
would have gained possession of Constantinople had
it not been for the active interference of England in
behalf of the Sultan. By this time English public
opinion had become entirely reconciled to the canal
purchase, and the English Government had decided to
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take an active part in affairs of the near East as the
champion of the Ottoman Empire. By the treaty of
San Stefano, which terminated the Russo-Turkish
War, the integrity of the Turkish Empire was pre-
served, and, as a consequence of this treaty, a secret
convention was drawn up between England and Tur-
key by which the English gained possession of the
Island of Cyprus. In the meantime, affairs in Egypt
had gone from bad to worse. The Cave Mission, to
which I have referred, had been followed by several
other missions which had resulted in an arrangement
for the settlement of the Khedive’s debts under the
“Dual Control” of England and France, by which an
annual charge of nearly seven million pounds sterling
had been added to the Egyptian revenues, which
enormous sum had to be wrung out of the already
almost starving fellahin.. The general elections in
England in 1880 proved to have far-reaching con-
sequences for Egypt because they brought into supreme
power Mr. Gladstone, who, in spite of his strong liberal
sympathies, did more than any other prime minister to
destroy the independence of Egypt. In 1877, in the
August number of the Nineteenth Century Review,
Mr. Gladstone contributed an article on Egypt and
the freedom of the East, in which he expressed him-
self as opposed to further British aggression in Africa.
Pointing out the dangers which would result in an
‘aggressive policy, he made a prophecy of its probable
results which has been so nearly fulfilled that it is
worthy of quotation.

“Our first site in Egypt (he writes), be it by larceny or be
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it by exemption, will be the most certain egg of a North
African Empire that will grow and grow until another Vic-
toria and another Albert, titles of the lake sources of the
white Nile, will come within our borders and until we finally
join hands across the Equator with Natal and Cape Town, to
say nothing of the Transvaal and the Orange River on the
south, or of Abyssinia, or Zanzibar to be swallowed by way of
viaticum on our journey, and then, with a great empire in
each of the four quarters of the world, we may be territorially
content but less than ever at our ease,”

Continuing, he said (I quote only in parts) :

“The susceptibilities which we might offend in Egypt are
rational and just. For very many centuries she has been
inhabited by a Mohammedan community. That community
has always been governed by Mohammedan influences and
powers. During a portion of the period it had sultans of its
own. Of late, while politically attached to Constantinople, it
has been practically governed from within, a happy incident
in the condition of any couniry and one which we should be
slow to change® The grievances of the people are indeed
great, but there is no proof whatever that they are incurable.

My belief is that the day which witnesses our occupa-
tion of Egypt will bid a long farewell to all cordiality of
political relations between France and England. There might
be no immediate quarrel, no exterior manifestation, but a
silent rankling grudge there would be, like the now ex-
tinguished grudge of America during the Civil War, which
awaited the opportunity of some embarrassment on our side,
and on hers, of returning peace and leisure from weightier
matters. Nations have long memories.”

This was Gladstone’s attitude in 1877. In 1880 he
became Prime Minister of England, and Ismail was
deposed in Egypt and succeeded by his son Tewfik.

talics are the author’s,
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In the meantime, the Nationalist party in Egypt, under
the guidance of one of the most romantic and chival-
-rous leaders in modern history, Arabi Pasha, had suc-
ceeded in wresting from the Khedive certain constitu-
tional privileges, which lead one to think that had the
Egyptians been left alone they might have succeeded
in becoming a constitutionally independent nation.
Only since his defeat and elimination has the true
character of Arabi become known in England. During
the revolution, which he led, he was held up to the
British public by the jingo press, which was controlled
by the financial interests desiring intervention, as an
unspeakable tyrant worthy only of total annihilation;
yet as long ago as 1882, shortly after the British fleet
had bombarded Alexandria and set fire to the city,
General Gordon, that truly British hero, wrote from
Cape Town, where he was then stationed, “As for
Arabi, whatever may become of him individually, he
will live for centuries in the people,” and Bismarck
spoke of him as “a powerful factor with whom one
must reckon.”” On July 11, 1882, the British bom-
barded and destroyed Alexandria, and Gladstone,
whose views in 1877 I have already quoted, defended
this bombardment in the House of Commons!

Public opinion in England, prior to the actual bom-
bardment, was almost equally divided. John Bright,
the ablest member of Gladstone’s cabinet, was so op-
posed to active intervention that he resigned from the
cabinet on June 19th. On June 21st Mr. Blunt, at
the personal request of Frederic Harrison, editor of
the Pall Mall Gazette, and an ardent sympathizer with
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Arabi and the Egyptian Nationalists, wrote an open
letter to Mr. Gladstone, which was published in the
Times of that date. This letter gives, in a concise
form, such an accurate account of the political con-
ditions in both England and Egypt by one thoroughly
“familiar with the situation, that I quote it in full:

“June 21, 1882. Sir: The gravity of the present situation
in Egypt and the interests of honor and advantage to the
English nation which are there engaged, impel me to address
you publicly on the subject of the diplomatic steps which
have led to this imbroglio, and to put on record certain facts
which, in the case of any new departure taken by the Powers
at the approaching Conference, should not he lost sight of.
You are aware, sir, that during the past winter I was engaged
as mediator in a variety of unofficial but important negotia-
tions carried on between Sir Edward Malet and Sir Auckland
Colvin on the one hand and the chiefs of the National Egyp-
tian party on the other, negotiations in which I engaged my
personal honor to the loyalty of Her Majesty’s agents; also
that I have been in constant communication with those chiefs
since my return to England, and that I am consequently in a
position to speak with certainty and authority as to the charac-
ter and intentions of the popular movement in Egypt. You
know, moreover, that I have, from time to time, warned Her
Majesty’s Government of the danger they were running from
a false appreciation of facts, and that I have repeatedly
urged the necessity of their coming to a rapid understanding
with those in whose hands the guidance of the movement lay.
Finally, you know that in the interests of right and justice
and in accordance with the promise made by me to the Egyp-
tians, I have counseled them to the best of my ability in the
recent crisis, and spared no pains to urge them to that settle-
ment of their difficulties with the Khedive, Mohammed Tew-
fik, at which they have now happily arrived. In this I took
upon myself a great responsibility, but one which I think the
event has already justified.
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“The main points in the past which I would state are these:

“l. In the month of December last, I assisted the National
party to publish a program of their views which was just
and liberal and to which they have since rigidly adhered. At
this time, and down to the publication of the Dual Note of the
8th of January, the Egyptians had no quarrel whatever with
England or the English, neither had they any real quarrel
with the Khedive or the (Dual) Control, trusting in these to
permit the development of political liberty in their country
in the direction of parliamentary and constitutional self-
government. Their aim was, and is, the resumption by Egypt
of her position as a nation, the redemption of her debt, and
the reform of justice. They trusted then, as now, to the army
which was, and is, their servant, to secure them these rights,
and to their Parliament to secure them these ends; and they
were prepared to advance gradually and with moderation, in
the path they had traced.

“2. The Dual Note, drawn up by M. Gambetta, with the
view of making England a partner of his anti-Mussulman
policy, and understood by the Egyptians as the first step in a
policy analogous to that recently pursued in Tunis, changed
this confidence into a sentiment of profound distrust. In-
stead of awing them it precipitated their action. It caused
them to insist upon the resignation of Sherif Pasha, whom
they suspected of the design to betray them, and to assist
with- the Khedive in summoning a Nationalist ministry to
office. This insistence, though represented by the English
journals as the work of the army, was, in fact, the work of
the nation through their representatives, the notables. Of
this I can furnish ample evidence.

“3. The unexpected fall of M. Gambetta prevented the
execution of the threat of armed intervention implied by the
Dual Note. Nevertheless, a plan of indirect intervention was
persisted in. The English and French Controllers-General
protested against the Constitution granted by the Khedive on
the 6th of February, and the English and French Governments
carefully withheld their consent to it, signifying only that
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the Article giving to the Egyptian Parliament the right of
voting that half of the Budget which was not affected to the
payment of the debt was an infringement of international
engagements. The argument for this, based on certain firmans
of the Port and certain decrees of the Khedive, has been
constantly denied by the Egyptians.

“4, Acting, it must be presumed in accordance with their
instructions, the English agents at Cairo have for the past
three months set themselves steadily to work to bring about
a revolution counter to the will of the people and the liberties
granted to them by the Viceroy. The English Controller-
General, through a paid agent of the Egyptian Government,
has not scrupled to take part in this; and the English Resident
Minister has spared no pains to create a quarrel between the
Khedive and his Ministers. The Controller-General, sitting in
council with the Ministers as their official adviser, has with-
held his advice, counting, it would seem, on the mistakes
likely to be made by men new to office, and noting these in
silence. The English press correspondents, hitherto held in
check by the Resident, have been permitted full license in the
dissemination of news injurious to the Ministry and known
to be false. I will venture to recall to you some of the scares
reported at this time and disseminated through Europe—the
scare of banditti in the Delta—the scare of the Bedouins
rising—the scare of the revolt in the Soudan—the scare of
an Abyssinian war—the scare of huge military expenditure—
the scare of a general refusal to pay taxes, of the resignation
of the provincial governors, of the neglect of irrigation works,
of danger of the Suez Canal, the scare of Arabi Pasha hav-
ing become the bribed agent, in turn, of Ismail, of Halim and
of the Sultan. For some of these a very slight foundation
may have existed, in fact; for most, there was no foundation
whatsoever,

“5. On the 20th of March I addressed Lord Granville by
Arabi Pasha’s request, on this subject, and pointed out to him
the danger caused to peace in Egypt through the attitude of



ENGLAND IN EGYPT 83

the English agents, urging that a commission should be sent
to Cairo to examine inte Egyptian grievances.

“In the month of April advantage was taken by the English
and French Consuls-General of the discovery of a plot to
assassinate the National Ministry, and traced by these to an
agent of Ismail Pasha’s, to induce the Khedive to put himself
in open opposition to his ministers. Those implicated in the
plot and condemned to banishment were men of position,
Turks and Circassians, and as such of the same race and
society with the Khedive, and he was unwilling to ratify their
sentence and suffered himself to be persuaded to refuse his
signature, This led to the rupture which the previous diplo-
matic action of the Consul-General had prepared. A summons
was sent by Mahmud Sami Pasha to the Deputies to come to
Cairo and decide between the Ministers and the Khedive, and
the Deputies came. Sultan Pasha, however, through jealousy,
refused to preside at any formal sitting, and advantage was
again taken by the Consul-General to encourage all who
were in opposition to the National party to rally around the
Khedive. A section of the rich Egyptians, fearing disturb-
ances, sided with the Circassians, and the Consul-General,
deceived by appearances, ventured a coup de main. An
ultimatum, dictated by them, was sent in to the Ministers,
insisting on the resignation of the ministry and Arabi Pasha’s
departure from the country. The step for an instant seemed
to succeed, for the ministry resigned. It became, however,
immediately apparent that the feeling of the country had been
miscalculated by our diplomacy, and Arabi, by the manifest
will of the nation, returned next day to power. I cannot
understand that the action of our Consul-General in this
matter was justified by any principles of Liberal policy, it
certainly has not been justified by success.

“6. When the fleet was ordered to Alexandria, I endeavored
to convey a warning, as my private opinion, based upon all I
had witnessed last winter of the temper of the Egyptian peo-
ple, that the presence of English men-of-war at that moment
in the port of Alexandria, especially if their crews should be
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allowed on any pretense to land, would be exceedingly likely
to provoke a serious disturbance; and it was my intention to
go myself to Egypt to do what I could towards mitigating
what I feared would be the results,

“7. About the same time. the English Government con-
sented to- the despatch of a Turkish Commissioner to Cairo.
It was supposed that the authority of the Sultan was so great
in Egypt that obedience would be shown to whatever orders
his representative might bring, or that, at any rate, little
opposition would be offered. In any case, the Porte was au-
thorized to act in its own way. Dervish Pasha was sent; and
it is a lamentable fact that he was a man notoriously un-
scrupulous in his method of dealing with rebels. I have reason
to know that what was expected of him was that he should
summon Arabi Pasha to Constantinople; that, failing this, he
should have recourse to bribery; and that in the extreme
resort he should arrest or shoot the Minister of War as a
mutineer, with his own hand. Whether these were Dervish
Pasha’s instructions or intentions I will not argue. The
Porte seems to have been as little prepared as Her Majesty’s
Government were for the strength of the National feeling in
Egypt; and only the union and courage shown by the people
would seem to have convinced the Sultan that methods, such
as those formerly used by Dervish Pasha against the Alban-
ians, would be here out of place. Humaner counsels have in
any case prevailed, and peace has been recommended between
the Khedive and his people.

“Such, sir, is shortly the history of England’s diplomatic
action in Egypt during the past six months. It is one of the
most deplorable our foreign office has to record. The future,
however, in some measure remains to us, though, when the
Conference assembles, England’s will be only one of many
voices raised in the settlement. It is not for me to suggest
the words which should there be spoken; but T will venture
to express my conviction that if Her Majesty’s representative
then comes forward with an honest confession of the mistakes
made, and a declaration of England’s sympathy with Egyptian



ENGLAND IN EGYPT 85

freedom, England will regain her lost ground. In spite of
the just anger of the Egyptians at the unworthy tricks which
have been played upon them by our Foreign Office, they
believe that a more generous feeling. exists in the body of
the English nation which would not suffer so vast a public
wrong to be committed as the subjugation of their country
for a misunderstood interest in Egyptian finance and in the
Suez Canal. They have, over and over again, assured me,
and I know that they speak truly, that their only aim is
peace, independence and economy, and that the Suez Canal
cannot be better protected for England, as for the rest of the
world, than by the admission of the Egyptian people into
the comity of nations. Only let the hand of friendship be
held out to them freely, and at once, and we shall still earn
their gratitude.
“I am, Sir, your obedient servant,

“WILFRID ScAWEN BLUNT.”

Unfortunately, for the Egyptian dreams of political
independence, neither the Prime Minister nor the
Foreign Office paid any attention to this appeal of
Mr. Blunt’s, After the bombardment of Alexandria,
which Mr. Gladstone so eloquently defended, British
troops, under Sir Garnet, afterwards Lord Wolseley,
entered Egypt by way of the canal and defeated
Arabi at Pel-el-Kebir on September 13th, and Egypt
virtually passed into the control of Great Britain.

Arabi, after a long and sensational trial, was sen-
tenced to exile in Ceylon. The “Dual Control” con-
tinued, theoretically, in force until 1904, when, by the
secret agreement between France and England, which
will be described in the story of Morocco, France
finally withdrew all her Egyptian claims, and England
assumed a protectorate over Egypt. Under the British
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control there is no doubt that the country has been
wisely administered by Lord Cromer and the men as-
sociated with him, but the Egyptians feel that they
have lost their independence. Foreign rule, no matter
how wise or how lenient, is never grateful to the people
under it and is always regarded as a burden. When
a lack of comprehension of native customs and habits
of thought is joined to severity against crimes which
result from attempts to preserve these native customs,
dissatisfaction always results. Professor Sayce, the
well-known authority on Semitic language, says:

“Those who have lived in the East and have tried to mingle
with the native population know well how utterly impossible
it is for the European to look at the world with the same eyes
as the Oriental. For awhile, indeed, the European may fancy
that he and the Oriental understand one another, but sooner
or later a time comes when he is suddenly awakened from
his dream and finds himself in the presence of a mind which
is as strange to him as would be the mind of an inhabitant
of Saturn.”

In spite of the able manner in which the affairs of
Egypt have been administered, there has been con-
tinued opposition in England to the steady encroach-
ment of British power, and Sir Edward Grey has been
severely criticized both in the House of Commons and
among his own party. How the mass of the British
public regard the final incorporation of Egypt into the
Empire, so recently announced to the world by Sir
Edward Grey, the present censorship has, thus far,
prevented the outside world from knowing. It may be
that after the war we shall learn more about this last
instance of ‘“benevolent assimilation.” The conquest
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of the Soudan followed as a natural corollary to the
control of Egypt. One thing during this conquest
stirred the entire world, and that was the tragic fate
of the heroic Gordon at Khartoum. Shortly before
the news of Gordon’s fate reached England, Herbert
Spencer wrote, in 1903:

“Love of country is not fostered in me on remembering
that when, after our Prime Minister had declared that we were
bound in honor to the Khedive to reconquer the Soudan, we,
after the re-conquest, forthwith began to administer it in the
name of the Queen and the Khedive, practically annexing it.

Contemplation of the acts by which England has
acquired over eighty possessions—settlements, colonies, protec-
torates, etc.—does not arouse feelings of satisfaction.”



PART II.

ENGLAND AND THE TWENTIETH CENTURY



CHAPTER VIIL

THE ACQUISITION OF THE TRANSVAAL.

HE beginning of the new century found the Brit-
ish Empire engaged in the most serious struggle
in her long history, the war with the two little South
African Republics. Shortly before the war broke
out, on September 12, 1899, Lord Wolseley, who,
alone among British generals seems to have appre-
ciated the Boer strength, wrote: “If this war comes
off it will be the most serious war England has ever
had.” The story of this war is of such recent date
and has been so well told by numerous writers that I
shall not go into it in this chapter. The two most
interesting books on the subject are The Great Boer
War, by Sir A. Conan Doyle, which treats it from
the British standpoint, and The Three Years War,
by General Christian de Wet, written with great clear-
ness of mind from the Boer point of view. With the
results of the war and the wise and humane British
policy after conquest, all the world is familiar. Let
us consider for a few moments the early history of
this interesting little country, the Transvaal, and how
it first came under British control.
In 1835 a small body of Dutch farmers from Cape
Colony, inspired by much the same motives which led
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our forefathers in 1620 to brave the perils of the
Atlantic and settle on the barren coasts of New Eng-
land, crossed the Vaal River and trekked as far as
the Zoutpansberg. The first party, under the leader-
ship of Louis Trichard and jan von Rensburg, con-
sisted of about a hundred persons. Their main de-
sire was to get entirely away from British control and
govern themselves and the natives as they saw fit.
‘When they reached the Zoutpansberg the party
divided up, a portion, under Trichard, setting out to
explore the country as far as Delagoa Bay. The
remainder of the party, under Rensburg, were, soon
after the separation, murdered by the natives. Trich-
ard’s party did not reach the coast until 1838, after
a number of them had perished. The survivors pro-
ceeded to Natal by boat. In 1846 another party, led
by Andries Hendrik Potgieter, crossed the Vaal and
established themselves on the banks of the Vet, but
no permanent settlement was made until 1838, when
Potgieter and his followers, in November of that year,
founded the town of Potchefstroom. An elementary
form of government was established, and in 1840 these
colonists entered into a very loose form of confederacy
with the Boers of Natal. In 1848 Andries W. J. Pre-
torius became commander of the Boers of Potchef-
stroom. Under his leadership the colony grew rapidly,
and its recognition by Great Britain was sought by
the colonists. This recognition was secured on Janu-
ary 17, 1852, when a convention, known as the Sand
River Convention, was drawn up between Pretorius
and other Boers on one hand and assistant commis-
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sioners nominated by the British High Commissioner
on the other. The first clause of this convention reads
as follows:

“The assistant commissioners guarantee in the fullest man-
ner on the part of the British Government to the emigrant
farmers beyond the Vaal River, the right to manage their
own affairs and to govern themselves according to their own
laws without any interference on the part of the British
Government, and that no encroachment shall be made by the
said government on the territory beyond to the north of the
Vaal River, with the further assurance that the warmest
wish of the British Government is to promote peace, free
trade and friendly intercourse with the emigrant farmers now
inhabiting, or who may hereafter inhabit that country; it
being understood that this system of non-interference is
binding upon both parties.”

This convention marks the first recognition of the
existence of a new incipient nationality.. The popula-
tion of white people north of the Vaal consisted of
about five thousand families, numbering in all, includ-
ing women and children, about forty thousand per-
sons. These people were only united in one thing,
and that was their determination to live independent
of British control in what they considered their own
territory. Among themselves disputes were many and
bitter, but in 1856 Marthinus W. Pretorius, who, on
the death of his father, had succeeded to the leadership
among the Burghers, was able to bring about a sort
of unity among the scattered factions and to estab-
lish a permanent form of government. A representa-
tive assembly of delegates was chosen for the purpose
of drafting a constitution. The title, “The South
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African Republic,” was adopted, and the new constitu-
tion made provision for a wolksraad or parliament, to
be elected by the people. All the legislative powers
of the government were vested in this Volksraad, and
the members were to serve for a period of two years.
All the administrative powers were given to a presi-
dent who was to be assisted by an executive council
or cabinet. Only members of the Dutch Reformed
Church of European blood were allowed to serve
in any department of the government; Pretorius was
elected first president of the Republic. Shortly after
the constitution had been ratified and himself installed
in office, Pretorius attempted to bring about a union
between the South African Republic and the Orange
Free State. His first peaceful overtures were not
accepted, but, as he felt such a union to be vital to the
permanent existence of both the little states, he, to-
gether with Paul Kruger, formed a commando,
crossed the Vaal River, and attempted to bring about
the desired union by force. This attempt also failed,
but in 1860 Pretorius, while still president of the
South African Republic, was elected to the presidency
of the Orange Free State. Upon learning of his elec-
tion to this position, in February, 1860, Pretorius ob-
tained from his council a six months’ leave of absence
and went to Bloemfontein with the hope of peacefully
arranging a political union between the two states.
Shortly after he left Pretoria, the newly founded capi-
tal city of the Transvaal, named in honor of his
father, a protest was made in the Volksraad by Cor-
nelius Potgieter against the proposed union, which,
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he said, would be of incalculable benefit to the Orange
Free State but of small benefit to the Transvaal. Fol-
lowing this outbreak it was declared unconstitutional
for the same man to be president of both republics.
At the end of his six months’ leave of absence Pre-
torius, after a stormy meeting of the Volksraad, re-
signed the presidency of the Transvaal. In October,
1860, a mass meeting of citizens was held at Potchef-
stroom, the old capital, which resulted in the passing
of the following resolutions:

“A. That the volksraad no longer enjoyed the confidence
of the people.

“B. That Pretorius should remain president of the South
African Republic and should have a year’s leave of absence
to bring about union with the Free State.

“C. That Schoeman should act as president in the absence
of Pretorius.

“D. That before the return of Pretorius to resume his
duties a new volksraad should be elected.”

Had the Transvaal Boers not been actuated by an
extremely narrow and distrustful policy, it is un-
doubtedly true that a strong and compact republican
state would have resulted from Pretorius’ efforts, as
the burghers of the Orange Free State were not at
that time opposed to the union, but the complications
which followed Pretorius’ resignation brought about
almost a state of anarchy, with two acting presidents
and two rival governments in control of the Transvaal.
To put an end to this distressing and demoralizing
state of affairs, Commandant Paul Kruger took mat-
ters into his own hands. Calling out the burghers of his
own district, he drove Schoeman and his followers
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out of Pretoria and then attacked Potschefstroom,
which, after a sharp skirmish, in which three men
were killed and seven wounded, fell into his hands.
In 1863 Pretorius resigned the presidency of the Free
State and returned to Pretoria, where, acting as media-
“tor between rival factions, he brought about a condi-
tion of at least temporary peace. A conference be-
tween factions was held in January, 1864, which was
-followed by a new election, in which Pretorius was
again chosen president, and Kruger was made com-
mandant-general. '

As a result of this civil war the condition of the
country was deplorable. The public exchequer was
empty, and, in order to meet current expenses, paper
money was introduced, with the usual results which
have followed such an expedient in all parts of the
world. The exact boundaries of the state had not
been defined in the Sand River Convention, so when
gold was discovered at Tati, in 1868, President Pre-
torius, by proclamation, extended the boundaries of
the Transvaal on the north and west to include the
gold fields and the whole of Bechuanaland, and on the
east to Delagoa Bay. This proclamation brought forth
strong protests from Sir Philip Wodehouse, the Brit-
ish High Commissioner and from the Portuguese Con-
sul-General. The eastern boundary question was finally
settled by treaty with Portugal in 1869. The territory
to the north, which Pretorius wished to annex, was
claimed not only by the South African Republic, but
also by the Bechuanas, the Koranas and also by one |
Nicholas Waterboer, a Griqua captain. To settle this
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question, in 1871, an arbitration board was appointed,
consisting of A. A. O'Reilly, on behalf of the South
African Republic; John Campbell, on behalf of the
other claimants; and Lieutenant-Governor Keate, of
Natal, who was to act as referee. The judges dis-
agreed, and, the decision being left to the referee, he,
on October 17, decided in favor of Waterboer.
What rendered this decision of far-reaching con-
sequences was the fact that on August 25, 1870, a
year before the “Keate Award,” Waterboer had
offered his territory to Great Britain. A few days
after the decision of the “Keate Award,” the British
High Commissioner, Sir Henry Barkly, issued a
proclamation taking over, in the name of Great Britain,
all of Waterboer’s territory which he called Griqua-
land West. This territory included all of the then
discovered diamond diggings. This annexation by
Great Britain, although based upon the Keate decision
and Waterboer’s original offer, aroused great resent-
ment among the Boers, and led to the resignation of
President Pretorius. The Boers, wishing to have in
the presidency a man whom they felt to be strong
enough to cope with Great Britain, offered this posi-
tion to Mr. (afterwards Sir) John Brand, president
of the Orange Free State, but he declined. Failing to
secure the services of Mr. Brand the burghers elected
the Rev: Thomas Frangois Burgers, a minister of the
Reformed Church and a member of a prominent Cape
Colony family, to the presidency. This was in 1872.
and marked a new departure in policy, as heretofore
every officer of the republic had been chosen from
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among the families of the original colonists. Burgers
was an able, active and patriotic man, but was more
visionary than aggressive, and he became involved in
many entanglements with the native chiefs.. In 1875
he went to Europe for the purpose of raising money
to finance the building of a railroad to Delagoa Bay,
but was not successful. He returned to the Transvaal
in 1876 to find that in his absence the acting president,
with the consent of the Volksraad, had attempted to
carry out many measures opposed to the public wel-
fare, had unwisely and indiscriminately allotted native
lands to various adventurers, and that war with the
Zulus was imminent. In 1877 the paper currency had
so depreciated that Transvaal one-pound notes only
brought one shilling in actual cash, Just at this time
the South African Colonial Secretary, the Earl of
Carnarvon, was agitating a union of all the South
African States under the British Government. On
October 5, 1876, he had appointed a commission, under
Sir Theophilus Shepstone, to visit the Transvaal and
try to arrange with the Boers for the annexation of
the country to the British crown. Shepstone went to
Pretoria in January, 1877, escorted by twenty-five
mounted police, and after careful consideration decided
that annexation was the only salvation for the Trans-
vaal, but to his disappointment the Volksraad did not
agree with him. The condition of affairs could hardly
have been worse, as the treasury was empty and the
Boers would not pay their taxes; government con-
tractors were unpaid; the country was in debt to the
amount of $1,075,000; and there seemed to be no
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power able to compel the Boers to meet their obliga-
tions. Finding that the Volksraad would do nothing
to remedy conditions, on April 12, 1877, Shepstone
issued a proclamation formally annexing the country
to Great Britain. The proclamation graciously stated
that—*It is the wish of Her Most Gracious Majesty
that the State shall enjoy the fullest legislative privi-
leges compatible with the circumstances of the country
and the intelligence of its people.” This instance of
benevolent assimilation, like almost all of the more re-
cent additions to British territory, was received by the
people of England with mixed feelings. Sir Bartle
Frere defended Shepstone’s act of annexation on the
ground that Burgers, President of the South African
Republic, had already approached some of the Conti-
nental Powers with reference to forming an alliance,
and that Germany would surely intervene if Great
Britain did not forestall her. In the Transvaal Shep-
stone’s proclamation aroused almost instant opposition,
although President Burgers seemed to be in favor of
the annexation. In April Frere visited the Transvaal
and tried to persuade the Boers to accept the annexa-
tion as being for their ultimate good, assuring them
that under the British crown they would have com-
plete self-government in all local affairs with the
added security of the British against the Zulus, who
were the common enemy. The Boers, however, felt
that the Zulus were more than a match for the British
army, and that this was the time for them to secure
absolute independence. The conflict with the Zulus,
which ensued, was carried on without any co-operation
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from the Boers, and cost Great Britain many lives
and $25,000,000 before it was ended. Sir Garnet
Wolseley, who had come out to Africa in June to
command the British forces, declared to the Boers, in
a public gathering held after the Zulus had been de-
feated, that “So long as the sun shines, the British
flag will fly at Pretoria.” This was in 1879; on the
13th of December, 1880, the Boers again declared the
independence of the South African Republic and ap-
pointed a triumvirate, consisting of Kruger, Pretorius
and Joubert, as a provisional government. They felt
justified in assuming that the British Government
would acquiesce in this declaration because in the elec-
tions held in England in 1880, Gladstone had been
made Prime Minister., While conducting his cam-
paign in Mid-Lothian before this election, Gladstone
had, in his speeches, seemed to favor Boer indepen-
dence. He had accused the British of having placed
themselves in the position of ‘“free subjects of a
monarchy going to coerce the free subjects of a re-
public,” and in one of his speeches had said:

“If these acquisitions were as valuable as they are value-
less, I would repudiate them, because they were obtained by
means dishonorable to the character of our country.”

These speeches were circulated freely in the Trans-
vaal, and from them the Boers naturally assumed that,
with Mr. Gladstone in control, their efforts to secure
complete independence would be crowned with suc-
cess. In February, 1881, came the complete defeat
of the British army, under Sir George Colley, at
Majuba Hill, in which battle Colley himself was
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slain. This defeat at Majuba Hill was a tremendous
blow to British prestige in South Africa and was so
regarded in Great Britain. A truce was declared on
March 3rd, and on March 2lst a treaty was drawn
up between Sir Evelyn Wood on behalf of Great
Britain and the Boer Triumvirate by which complete
internal self-government under British suzerainty was
granted to the Boers. This treaty was confirmed in
a convention held in Pretoria on August 3rd, and on
the 8th the government was handed over to the Trium-
virate, who continued in control until May, 1883, when
Kruger was elected president. After the Pretoria
convention the Boers felt that their independence was
assured, and that the British suzerainty was merely a
nominal concession to save the face of the British
Government at home. In 1884 a convention was held
in London in which certain articles were substituted
for those of the Pretoria convention. The timidity
of Lord Derby, in the London convention, only
strengthened the Boer belief in the actual indepen-
dence of the republic. At first Lord Derby repudiated
the Majuba treaty, on the ground that treaties could
only be drawn up between equally sovereign states. At
the same time he acted as if he wished to conciliate
the Boers, and while he was not willing to formally
relinquish the suzerainty, he consented not to men-
tion it. Lord Cairns, in the House of Lords, openly
accused Lord Derby of having relinquished the British
suzerainty in substance even if he had refrained from
using the word, and the impression of British defeat
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made upon Kruger and his associates was as strong
as that created by the surrender at Majuba Hill.

The increased discoveries of gold in 1883, followed by
those in the Rand in 1886, brought an influx of diggers
and prospectors into the country from the British
Colonies and from Europe, and in 1886 Johannesburg
was founded, and in ten years became a city of 108,000
inhabitants. The whole country was on a boom, and
the wealth which was pouring into the Boer treasury
exceeded anything that Kruger and his thrifty burgh-
ers had ever imagined. By 1896 fully one-third of
the land areas had been purchased by Uitlanders. In
spite of the fact that these outsiders were filling up
the land and bringing to it untold prosperity, the
Boers would not recognize them as citizens, and
adopted towards them a policy of rigid political ex-
clusion. In 1888 Cape Colony, the Orange Free State
and Natal attempted to form a customs-union with
the Transvaal, but to this Kruger was rigidly opposed.
Because of his hostility to Great Britain, Kruger
adopted a policy which was distinctly prejudicial to
the gold industry, and this naturally caused friction
between the Uitlanders and the Boers. To the de-
mands of the former for some share in the govern-
ment, Kruger replied by extending the period of
qualification for suffrage from five to ten years. A
compromise of a seven years’ period was finally agreed
upon, but this was never satisfactory to the Uit-
landers, who, by 1890, formed a majority of the
population. The friction between the native and out-
side elements became so strong that in 1895 the ques-
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tion of a direct appeal to the British Government was
considered by the Ulitlanders, but was opposed by the
men of Colonial birth, who, because of the defeat at
Majuba and the vacillating policy of the home gov-
ernment, had lost faith in the ability of Great Britain
to coerce the Boers. In October, 1895, Cecil Rhodes,
Prime Minister of Cape Colony and the real origina-
tor of the dream of uniting all Africa under the British
crown, made overtures to the Ulitlanders through Dr.
Jameson, which led to what is known as the “Jameson
Raid.” The collapse of this raid, ending in the arrest
of Jameson and his associates, only intensified the
feeling between Boers and Uitlanders, and greatly
strengthened Kruger’s power, while increasing his
antipathy to Great Britain. When Sir Hercules Robin-
son, the British High Commissioner, heard of the raid
he at once sent an order to the British Resident at
Pretoria advising all British subjects in Johannesburg
against any co-operation with Jameson. On January
7, 1896, Sir Hercules telegraphed to the British agent
at Johannesburg ‘“that if the Uitlanders do not
comply with my request they will forfeit all claims
to sympathy from Her Majesty’s Government and
from British subjects throughout the world, as the
lives of Jameson and the other prisoners are now prac-
tically in their hands.” Upon the receipt of this tele-
gram, the rifles and ammunition which had been dis-
tributed among the Uitlanders at Johannesburg were
given up. ‘After the disarmament at Johannesburg,
Kruger proceeded to arrest sixty-four members of the
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reform committee while declaring to the world that
his motto would be “Forget and Forgive.”

In the period between the collapse of the raid and
the outbreak of the war in October, 1899, Kruger’s
policy became more and more aggressive against the
Uitlanders. Sir Alfred Milner, who had succeeded
Sir Hercules Robinson in 1897, did everything that
was humanly possible to persuade the Transvaal Gov-
ernment to consider the much needed reforms, but his
efforts were fruitless. At the conference, held at
Bloemfontein from May 31, to June 5, 1899, between
Sir Alfred and President Kruger, it was evident from
the outset that the latter was determined to wring
further concessions from the British Government
rather than make any on his own part. After this
conference Sir Alfred urged the home government to
rigidly insist upon certain reforms, among them the
return to the five years’ franchise, and his recom-
mendations were loyally supported by Mr. Chamber-
lain. Mr. Kruger maintained that the franchise ques-
tion was a local one in which Great Britain had no
right to interfere. He persisted in asserting the full
independence of the South African Republic as a
sovereign state and formally denied the claim of
British suzerainty. Thus an impasse was reached, and
in October the war broke out.

As I said at the beginning of this chapter, I will not
attempt to tell the story of the war. Much has been
written in English reviews, both before and during the
war, of the attitude of Germany towards both of the
belligerents. In view of the present struggle, which is
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exhausting Europe and which seems to be narrowing
down to a contest between British navalism and German
militarism, it is interesting to note the one official act of
the Kaiser during the Boer War. The so-called Kruger
telegram, which was published throughout the world
after the Jameson raid, has been definitely proven, even
to England’s satisfaction, not to have been written by
the Kaiser. During the war, when the tide had turned
and the Boers began to realize that they would be de-
feated, a delegation was sent from the Transvaal to
the Continent of Europe to secure European interven-
tion in favor of the Boers. Kruger felt sure that the
Continental Powers would never consent to the de-
struction of the South African Republic. His dele-
gates were féted and rapturously received in both
Holland and France, but when they wished to be
received by the Kaiser, he declined to meet them,
although German public opinion was wholly in sym-
pathy with them. As a result of his refusal, the
embassy collapsed. The war ended in 1902, and it
resulted in both the Transvaal and the Orange Free
State being incorporated within the British Empire. The
period of reconstruction was very short, as the British
Government, during the long struggle, had learned to
appreciate the splendid qualities of the Boer people.
Great Britain has never produced a wiser colonial
administrator than Sir Alfred, now Lord, Milner.
Under his administration a complete union of all the
South African colonies was brought about, and the
native leaders were given responsible positions under
the new government. The loyalty of the Boers to



104 ENGLAND’'S WORLD EMPIRE

their new allegiance has been splendidly shown in the
present war. What the attitude of South Africa will
be after the war no man now knows, but it looks as if
this last case of assimilation into the Empire would
be permanent, because of the wisdom and broad-
mindedness shown in internal administration after
the war.



CHAPTER IX,

THE STORY OF MOROCCO.

NE cannot get a comprehensive knowledge of

the present tendencies of British Foreign Policy
without carefully considering the “Affair of Mo-
rocco.” In May, 1891, Lord Salisbury sent a special
mission to the Sultan of Morocco for the purpose of
clearing up all questions which had arisen between the
British and Moorish Governments and protecting
British interests in Morocco, which were very exten-
sive. This mission, which was headed by Sir C.
Euan-Smith, was attended with a good deal of cere-
mony as a means of impressing a semi-Oriental
potentate. In his written instructions to Sir C. Euan-
Smith, Lord Salisbury said:

“You will observe that it has been the constant aim of Her
Majesty’s Government, and of your predecessors at Tangier,
to preserve the independence and territorial integrity of the
Empire of Morocco, while neglecting no favorable oppor-
tunity of impressing upon the Sultan and his Ministers the
importance and advantage of improving the government and
administration of the country. Unfortunately, their efforts
in this direction have hitherto been unsuccessful, and herein
lies the great danger of the situation, as the decease of the
present Sultan will, in all probability, give rise to internal
disturbances, the issue of which it is impossible to foresee.”
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The main purpose of this mission was to negotiate
a commercial treaty between the two Powers. For
years the desire of the British Government had been
to preserve the political integrity of Morocco and
prevent this state from falling under the control of
any other European Power which might endanger
Gibraltar and the direct route to India. During the
twenty-five years preceding this mission, there had
been frequent periods of tension between Morocco and
Algeria, but throughout all this period the British Gov-
ernment had been absolutely sincere in its efforts to
preserve the political status guo in Morocco. Un-
fortunately the mission of 1891 was a complete fail-
ure. They were delayed for weeks at Fez, while the
Sultan kept postponing the time of their reception, but
the main cause of its failure, to again quote Lord
Salisbury, was “the misrepresentations which attended
the mission from the first.” Lord Salisbury, with
his usual straightforwardness and honesty, had sent
to the Governments of Germany, Italy, Austria, Spain
and France a draft of the treaty which Sir C. Euan-
Smith was to present to the Sultan, and had asked
their support in a measure which was intended to
protect the interests of all the Powers without in any
manner attempting to secure the slightest special privi-
lege for the British Government. The Governments
of Germany, Austria and Italy at once signified.their
approval of this treaty, and Spain shortly joined with
these Powers, but France refused to sign it until she
should have had time to carefully consider all its
points. After what seemed to the Powers undue
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procrastination, the French Government refused to
‘ratify the treaty, and so the matter was dropped.
Lord Salisbury, in his last despatch to Sir C. Euan-
Smith, said:

“The correspondence which has now been published will
sufficiently establish that there was nothing in your Mission
prejudicial to the independence or integrity of Morocco or
threatening in any way the Sultan’s prerogative or his terri-
torial rights. It was conceived and carried out in a spirit
entirely conformable to the policy which Her Majesty’s Gov-
ernment has uniformly pursued of upholding the Moorish
Empire and discouraging all efforts either to diminish its
extent or to precipitate its fall.”

The Euan-Smith mission was Great Britain’s last
serious effort to maintain the political independence
and sovereignty of the Sultan, although she continued
to be very greatly interested in the commercial develop-
ment of Morocco until 1902. The Times, in an edi-
torial on July 19, 1892, commenting upon the results
of this mission, said:

“As usual, France stood out. The Power which protects
the Shereef of Wazau and which, with scarcely any disguise,
supports him in something like rivalry to the Sultan of Mo-
rocco, has yet obtained influence enough with the latter to
put a stop to negotiations which were directed to the com-
mon advantage of Europe. Probably this will be represented
tomorrow, by the Parisian Journals, as ‘a triumph of French
diplomacy.” That Spain, Austria, England and France herself
are not to be allowed to import corn or horses from Morocco
is ‘a triumph of French diplomacy! What it really means is
that, even for a great common gain to Europe, France will
not permit Great Britain to obtain influence at Fez, lest, per-
chance, at some future time the claims of the mistress of
Algeria to succeed to the Sultan’s domiinions should find
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themselves barred. But there are some people to whom no
present advantage counts in comparison to some sentiment
of amour propre, especially of a national kind, and among
these, we fear, are to be reckoned the French consular and
diplomatic agents in backward countries, almost without ex-
ception, together with a large portion of the official and
journalistic world of Paris.”

In 1901 the Moorish Government seems to have
become alarmed by the attitude of France, and ap-
pealed to Great Britain. A mission was sent to Lon-
don, but accomplished nothing much beyond Lord
Lansdowne’s gaining some minor advantages for
international trade.

Five years after this came the Council at Algeciras,
where the Governments of Great Britain, France,
Germany, Italy, Austria, Belgium, Holland, Spain,
Portugal, Russia, Sweden and the United States were
represented. Before considering this council and its
consequences, it is necessary to understand France’s
position in Africa and the arrangements between
France, Morocco and the various Powers which made
this council an international necessity. Up to 1881 the
interests of France in Morocco had been confined to
Algeria, which had been declared a French Colony in
1848. 1In 1881 France had assumed control of Tunis,
in order to prevent that country’s falling into the
hands of Italy, and she had cast longing eyes towards
Egypt, which, since the days of Napoleon, had been
tempting her ambitions. After the French challenge
to British control of Egypt had been defeated at
Fashoda in 1901, M. Delcassé wrote as follows to the
French Minister at Tangier:
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“You should make the Sultan understand that it will depend
upon himself to find in us friends the surest, the most anxious
for the integrity of his power, the most capable of preserving
him, in case of need, from certain dangers. Our loyalty, as
also our interests, are guarantees to him that we shall not
incroach upon it.”

This was in 1901. In 1904 a rapprochement began
between France and Great Britain, as a result of ar-
rangements settling the disputes which had been ex-
isting between the two governments about the fisheries
of Newifoundland, the West African boundaries
problem and various questions concerning Siam,
Madagascar and the New Hebrides. An agreement
was also made between the two powers affecting
Egypt and Morocco. This agreement, like the one
drawn up later in the year, consisted of two parts, a
public declaration and several secret conventions. Not
until seven years later were the people of either
England or France aware of the existence of these
secret agreements, and they would probably be still
ignorant of their existence had not an over-zealous
and rather indiscreet reporter published them in the
Paris Matin in November, 1911,

The arrangement with England was signed early in
April, 1904, and reads, in part, as follows:

“The Government of the French Republic declares that they
have no intention of altering the political status of Morocco.

“His Britannic Majesty’s Government for their part recog-
-nize that it appertains to France more particularly, as a Power
whose dominions are conterminous for a great distance with
those of Morocco, to preserve order in that country and to

provide assistance for the purpose of all administrative,
economic, financial and military reforms which it may require.
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“They declare that they will not obstruct the action taken
by France for this purpose, provided that such action shall
leave intact the rights which Great Britain, in virtue of
treaties, conventions and usage enjoys in Morocco, including
the rights of the coasting trade between the ports of Morocco
enjoyed by British trading vessels since 1901.”

The Declaration further states that both in Egypt
and Morocco the British and French governments are
‘“equally attached to the principle of commercial lib-
erty” and that they cannot “countenance an inequality
either in the imposition of customs duties or other
taxes or of railway charges; that the trade of both
nations should enjoy the same treatment in transit
through the French and British possessions in Africa,
and that concessions for roads, railways, ports, etc.,
should only be granted on such conditions as would
maintain intact the authority of the state over these
great undertakings of public interest.”

Article 7 of the public Declaration states that neither
state should “permit the erection of any fortifications
or strategic works on that portion of the coast of
Morocco comprised between, but not including, Me-
lilla and the heights which command the right bank
of the river Sebou.”

Article 8 stipulates that “France should come to an
understanding with Spain, bearing in mind the latter’s
interest derived from her geographical position and her
territorial possessions on the Moorish cost of the
Mediterranean.”

Article 9 provides that both governments should
“afford to one another their diplomatic support in



THE STORY OF MOROCCO m

order to obtain the execution of the clauses of the
present Declaration.” The commercial provisions of
the Declaration were to remain in force for a period
of thirty years.

Article 7 was evidently insisted upon by England
for the purpose of not allowing a great power like
France to control the approaches to the Straits of
Gibraltar and her direct route to India. Besides the
articles above quoted, which were duly made known to
the public of both nations who were parties thereto,
as well as to the government of Spain, there were
several articles which, as I have said above, were kept
secret until their publication in the Paris Matin in
November, 1911.

Article 1 of these secret documents foresees the
possibility of either government finding itself con-
strained by force of circumstance to modify this policy
in respect to Egypt or Morocco. Article 3 presages
the possibility of a French Protectorate over Morocco
and imposes upon such a Protectorate a permanent
Spanish control of the North Atlantic and Mediter-
ranean coasts of Morocco. It says:

“The two governments agree that a certain extent of Moor-
ish territory adjacent to Melilla, Ceuta and other présides
should, whenever the Sultan ceases to exercise authority over
it, come within the sphere of influence of Spain, and that the
administration of the coast from Melilla as far as, but not
including the heights on the right bank of the Sebou, shall be
entrusted to Spain.

“Nevertheless, Spain would previously have to give her
formal assent to the provisions of Articles 4 and 7 of the
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Declaration of today’s date (April 8, 1911), and undertake to
carry them out.

“She would also have to undertake not to alienate the
whole, or a part, of the territories placed under her authority
or in her sphere of influence.”

The public declaration of the agreement between
France and Spain is very short and declares on the
part of France that she remains “firmly attached to the
integrity of the Moorish Empire under the authority
of the Sultan,” while Spain declares her adherence
to the Anglo-French Declaration of April 8th. This
agreement between the two countries was entered into
on October 3rd; on October 6th M. Cambon wrote to
Lord Lansdowne:

“Dear Lord Lansdowne:

“I am instructed to communicate to you the arrangements
which have just been concluded between France and Spain
on the subject of Morocco. They were signed on the 3rd
inst.,, by our Minister of Foreign Affairs and the Spanish
Ambassador at Paris; they consist of a general declaration,
which will be made public, and of a convention, which is to
be kept secret. M. Delcassé, in instructing me to forward
to you the text of this agreement, in accordance with Article 8
of our Declaration of April 8 1904, pointed out t6 me the
confidential character of this communication and instructed
me to request you to be good enough to keep the Convention
entirely secret.

“I have, etc,,
“PaurL Campon.”

To this Lord Lansdowne promptly replied:

“Dear M. Cambon:

“I have had the pleasure of receiving your letter of today’s
date, covering the two documents which you had been in-
structed’ to communicate to me in accordance with Article 8
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of the ‘Declaration respecting Egypt and Morocco,” of April
8th last. ;

“I need not say that the confidential character of the Con-
vention entered into by the President of the French Republic
and the King of Spain in regard to French and Spanish
interests in Morocco is fully recognized by us and will be
duly respected. The shorter paper, or ‘Declaration, made
by the two governments is, I understand, public property.

“With best thanks, I am, etc.,
“LANSDOWNE.”

It is readily seen from the reading of the two public
Declarations that the integrity and political entity of
the Empire of Morocco is guaranteed, but Article 3
of the private agreement between England and France
certainly presages the termination of that integrity.
Now let us examine the secret convention between
France and Spain as published in the Matin.

Article 2 describes the sphere of influence which
falls to Spain by virtue of her possessions on the
Moorish coast of the Mediterranean where she shall
possess the same right of action as France has acquired
by the Anglo-French understanding in the remainder
of the country to preserve order in and provide assist-
ance for all administrative, economic, financial and
military reforms which it may require.

Article 3 says: In case the continuance of the poli-
tical status of Morocco and the Shereefian Government
should become impossible, or if, owing to the weak-
ness of that Government and to its continued inability
to uphold law and order or to any other cause, the
existence of which is acknowledged by both parties,
the status quo can be no longer maintained. Spain
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may freely exercise her right of action in the territory
defined in the preceding article, which henceforward
constitutes her sphere of influence.?

In Article 4 the Spanish sphere in Atlantic Morocco
is carefully defined and Spain agrees not to exercise
her right of action for fifteen years without the con-
sent of France, stating that if she shall “be obliged to
take military action the other party shall be at once
informed. In no case shall the assistance of a foreign
power be invoked.”

Article 10 declares that all schemes for the develop-
ment of public works, mines, railways, etc., and “eco-
nomic undertakings in general” in the respective
French and Spanish spheres (which comprise the
whole of Morocco) “shall be executed” by French
and Spanish enterprise.

To both of these agreements England was a party
and with both of them was apparently in active sym-
pathy, although we have seen how persistently she
had, under Lord Salisbury and even as late as 1901,
insisted upon the independence and integrity of Mo-
rocco. We have seen how in 1901 the Sultan, alarmed
by the aggressions of France, had sent a mission to
London to appeal to the British Government. Let us
now for the moment go back to the general situation
in Morocco at the time that Lord Salisbury sent his
ill-fated mission to the Sultan under Sir C. Euan-
Smith.

The governments to which Lord Salisbury’s pro-

*Italics are the author’s,
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posed commercial treaty with the Sultan were sub-
mitted were those of France, Italy, Spain, Austria and
Germany. Among the earliest European explorers of
Morocco were two Germans by the names of Lenz and
Rohlfs who on their return to their own country pub-
lished accounts of their discoveries which attracted
much attention because of the possible trade develop-
ments which they opened up. In 1873 the German
government appointed a resident in Fez. In 1880 the
first International Conference on the affairs of Mo-
rocco was held at Madrid at which conference Ger-
many took an active part and joined her influence to
that of Great Britain, in insuring the extension of the
“most favored nation” treatment by securing what we
now call “the open door” and thus made Morocco
a problem of international interest. In 1887 Spain
proposed a renewal of the Madrid Conference, and to
this proposal Germany gave her consent, but as the idea
did not appeal to the other powers the conference was
given up. In 1889 the Sultan sent an embassy to
Berlin. In 1890 a commercial treaty between Germany
and Morocco was signed at Fez on June lst, which
treaty was to continue in force for five years. Before
signing this treaty the German government submitted
it to the other powers who had been party to the
Madrid Conference and stated that she would not
sign it without their approval.

We have already seen that Germany gave her cor-
dial support to the mission sent to the Sultan by Lord
Salisbury in 1891 and 1892. Commenting upon the
attitude of the German government at this time the
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London Times, in its issue for July 19, 1892, said:

“The actual dealings between the British Minister and the
Sultan, who, by the law and practice of Morocco, takes per-
sonal cognizance of every detail of public diplomatic busi-
ness, are believed to have been amicable, as are those between
the Mission and most of the other European representatives,
Germany, in particular, which negotiated the last commercial
treaty in 1890, has supported British diplomacy, and Spain and
Ttaly are stated to have done the same.

“The support of nearly all the Powers was accorded very
freely to the British Envoy, and it is believed that Count
Tattenbach, the German Minister, has been especially promi-
nent in supporting the British attitude to obtain rights which
would benefit all European nations.”

It is interesting to note that the support given by
Count Tattenbach to the British efforts aroused con-
siderable opposition in Germany from the jingoes and
the Pan-German press, and it is quite equally interest-
ing and important to remember that the Count’s actions
received the unqualified support of the Imperial Chan-
cellor and the entire German government. In France
this German action was looked upon in the nature of
an affront. From this outline of conditions in Mo-
rocco previous to 1904, the year in which France made
her first special arrangements with England and Spain
respectively, it will be seen that Germany had suffi-
cient commercial interest in Morocco to make the
preservation of the integrity of the Moorish Empire
of great importance to her. According to every prece-
dent recognized by diplomatic and international cus-
tom, the text of the two special declarations of 1904
should have been submitted to the German Ambassador
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in Paris. That they were not so submitted is a well
known fact, and the German government only learned
of the Anglo-French declaration after its wording had
been made public in England and France. On April
12, 1904, four days after the signature of the declara-
tion, Count von Biilow, the German Chancellor, stated
in the Reichstag that he had no reason to believe that
the Anglo-French agreement was directed against Ger-
many but that he had received no official notification
of its existence. Speaking of Morocco he said:

“We are interested in that country, as, moreover, in the
rest of the Mediterranean, principally from the economic
standpoint. Qur interests therein are, before all, commercial
interests; also we are specially interested that calm and order
should prevail in Morocco. We must protect our commercial
interests in Morocco, and we shall protect them. We have
no reason to fear that they will be set aside or infringed upon
by any power.”

Apparently there was no cause for any anxiety about
Morocco in any of the chancellories of Europe. On
March 30, 1905, the German Emperor, who was cruis-
ing in the Mediterranean, called at Gibraltar and dined
with Sir George White. The next day he proceeded
to Morocco and anchored off Tangier and spent a few
hours there where he received the diplomatic corps
and held a conversation with representatives of the
Sultan who had been sent to meet him. The short
speech which the Emperor made to the German resi-
dents in Tangier was reported throughout Europe
and caused great excitement as it was regarded as a
challenge—and against what? The public only knew of
the published declarations between France and Eng-
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land and France and Spain. The entire English press
in particular was up in arms. German commercial
interests in Morocco, which had been developing stead-
ily since 1873, were belittled, and the Emperor’s visit
was regarded as a piece of insolent effrontery and an
attempt to drive a wedge between England and France.
Is it not reasonable to suppose that the German For-
eign Office, through their well-developed secret ser-
vice, had gotten some inkling of the secret addenda to
the public declarations and that it was with this knowl-
edge in mind that the Emperor determined to visit
Morocco and on the spot declare his intention to guard
the independence of the sultan, and by this means to
maintain the open door in Morocco? When Europe dis-
covered that Germany proposed another conference of
the powers over the Moroccan question the English
and French papers, especially the English, violently
opposed the idea. The Times on May 2, 1902, said:
“The international conference, which it is suggested should
be proposed by the Sultan of Morocco and which Count von
Tattenbach says will be supported by Germany, will probably
never take place, Its object could only be to revise or stultify

the agreement recently concluded by France and to give Ger-
many a voice in matters with which she has nothing to do.”

Again on June 5th of the same year the Times said:

“Consequently it may be announced with confidence that the
Moroccan proposal for a European conference will be enter-
tained by only one of the great powers—namely Germany. On
all sides it is recognized that Germany must have foreseen that
an invitation coming from Morocco would meet with no re-
sponse, and this confirms the general opinion as to Germany’s
whole Moroccan policy being a mere blind for something else.”
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In France the general trend of public opinion seemed
to be growing in favor of the proposed conference,
while the opposition in the British press became more
bitter. The Foreign Office went so far as to inform
the Sultan that Great Britain would not attend a
conference. In spite of this, the conference met at
Algeciras in April, 1906, at which conference eleven
European nations #ncluding Great Britain were repre-
sented as well as the United States of America. At
this conference an act was drawn up which was sup-
posed to settle the Moorish question for five years.

The Sultan of Morocco ratified the act on June 18,
1906. The act begins, “In the name of God Almighty”
and states that it is “based upon the threefold prin-
ciple of the sovereignty and independence of His
Majesty the Sultan, the integrity of his dominions and
economic liberty without any inequality.”

The reforms, which the signatory powers declared
to be necessary for the preservation of the three prin-
ciples upon which the act was based, covered the or-
ganization of the police; the illicit trade in arms which
had been going on for some years; the establishment
of a “Moorish State Bank”; the proper regulation of
taxes so as to provide new sources of revenue; the
regulation of customs and suppression of smuggling,
and public offices and public works. How these re-
forms were to be carried out is very carefully defined
in various articles of the Act, the concluding article
of which (No. 123) reads as follows:

“All existing treaties, conventions and arrangements be-
tween the signatory Powers and Morocco remain in force, It
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is, however, agreed that in case their provisions be found
to conflict with those of the present general Act, the stipula-
tions of the latter will prevail.”

Such then became the general law of Europe regard-
ing Morocco for a period of five years from its ratifi-
cation by the Sultan, on June 18, 1906. The last
article quoted above expressly states that while all
previous conventions and agreements, such as those en-
tered into by England, France and Spain in 1904, re-
main in force, should the provisions of such previous
agreements be found to conflict with the provisions of
the Act of Algeciras “the stipulations of the latter
shall prevail.” Now let us see, briefly, how the pro-
visions of the Act of Algeciras were carried out. On
March 27, 1907, a Frenchman was murdered at Mala-
kest in Southern Morocco. France at once invaded
Morocco to avenge this murder, and took possession
of Udja. The Sultan protested against the French
government’s retaining possession, and the French
promised to evacuate but continued in possession.
About this time a Franco-Spanish syndicate obtained
from the Moorish government a concession to build
a railroad from Casablanca, a trading town on the
Atlantic coast. The survey for this railroad ran di-
rectly through a Moorish cemetery to the east of Casa-
blanca. While attempting to carry the line through
this cemetery, which the Moors regarded as sacred
ground, a fracas occurred in which several employes
of the railroad were killed. The French in retaliation
bombarded Casablanca and overran the territory back
of the town known as the Shawiya District and occu-
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pied both Casablanca and Rabat, another important
coast town on the Atlantic north of Casablanca. Hav-
ing successfully invaded and occupied a portion of
the country, whose integrity it had so solemnly guar-
anteed, France levied an indemnity upan Morocco for
$12,000,000 for the expenses which she had incurred
in taking possession of this portion of the country, far
from her own Algerian border. She also presented a
-bill for the losses suffered by European and Moorish
merchants because of the bombardment of Casablanca.
These indemnities, piled on top of loans which the
Sultan Abdulaziz had made from France, so increased
the taxation of the Moors that an uprising of the peo-
ple drove Abdulaziz from the throne, and on January
4, 1908, his brother Mulai-Hafid was proclaimed Sultan
at Fez. Civil war at once ensued and lasted until
August, 1908, when Abdulaziz was finally defeated by
his brother. About the same time Spain, in pursuance
of her secret arrangement with France of 1904,
started a little campaign of her own in the Melilla
district and demanded an indemnity of $1,200,000. In
order to meet these indemnities, the distracted and
bankrupt government negotiated a new loan by merg-
ing all of her liabilities to Spain into one loan of
$2,020,000. This loan was secured by a mortgage upon
various Moorish revenues, including the remaining
40 per cent of the customs, so that Morocco’s indebt-
edness to Europe in 1910 had increased to $31,600,000.
With almost all of his revenues mortgaged to Europe,
and no money at hand to meet the current expenses of
the Government, the Sultan had no other resource
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except to wring tribute from the tribes, and the cruel-
ties to which he was driven resulted in the unhappy
country’s being reduced to a state of chaos. France
was his largest creditor and to her he was forced to
appeal. This was the opportunity for which the
French government had been waiting. A French army
under General Moinier entered Morocco in April, 1910,
meeting little opposition. En route to the capital he
took possession of Mequinez and other places and
finally settled down in Fez. At this Spain became
alarmed lest she should be deprived of that portion
of the country allotted to her by the secret agreement
of October, 1904, so. she proceeded to take possession
of Larash on the North Atlantic coast of Morocco,
El Kasr in the interior, and Ifni on the South Atlantic
coast, .and sent 20,000 troops to the Riff district on
the Mediterranean coast. Thus we see the partition
. of Morocco which had been secretly determined upon
between France and Spain, with the concurrence of
England, in the two declarations of 1904, actually car-
ried out in spite of the stipulations of the conference
at Algeciras. The French occupation of Fez was offi-
cially endorsed in the British Parliament by Sir Ed-
ward Grey, who was attempting to carry out the poli-
cies inaugurated in 1904 by his predecessor, Lord Lans-
downe. A graphic description of the chaos reigning
in the Moorish capital, the suffering and privations of
the foreign residents and the perils to which they were
exposed aroused public opinion in Great Britain to an
enthusiastic support of the French action. The real
situation in Fez just before the French occupation has
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been so graphically described by M. Francis de Pres-
sensé, one of the ablest and best informed of French
publicists that I copy his description in full:

“Nevertheless, matters were still not sufficiently to the liking
of the impressarii. To justify the financial operation which
was to crown the sordid tragic-comedy, something else was
still needed. At this point the Comité du Maroc and its
organs surpassed themselves. They organized a campaign of
systematic untruth. Masters of almost the entire press, they
swamped the country with false news. Fez was represented
as threatened by siege or sack. A whole European French
colony was suddenly discovered there, living in anguish. The
nltimate fate of the women and children was described in the
most moving terms. Even in the absence of independent
information, one could not fail to be struck by the singular
contradictions of these alarmist despatches. Now Fez was
lost, because the Mehallah, commanded by a French instructor,
was away. Anon the return of the said Mehallah was calcu-
lated to lose Fez. One day the alarmed public learned that
the town had undergone a formidable assault. The next day
the public was gravely told that the rebels had not yet
assembled, but would soon surround Fez with a circle of
iron and flame. The most lamentable details were given
. of the state of the expeditionary Mehallah, which only pos-
sessed an insignificant quantity of  cartridges and shells, but
this did not prevent the subsequent announcement that, thanks
to the heroism of its leader, it had achieved a great victory
and scattered the enemy with a hailstorm of shot and shell.
Finally it was affirmed that, in the case of siege, the city was
only provisioned for two or three weeks. Thus carefully
cooked, public opinion soon took fire. What was the gov-
ernment thinking of? At all cost the Europeans, the Sultan,
Fez itself, must be saved! As ever from the beginning of
this enterprise, the government knew nothing, willed nothing of
itself. With a salutary dread of complications it would have
preferred not to move, perhaps, even, had it dared, to with-
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draw from the hornet's nest. But the greater fears it experi-
enced from another quarter prevailed; those inculcated by
the so-called patriotic shoutings, the concerted clamours of
the orchestra of which the Comité’ du Maroc holds the baton,
and whose chief performers are to be found in Le Temps and
Le Matin. The order to advance was given.

“Already, while the expedition was on its way, light began
to pierce. Those redoubtable rebels, who were threatening
Fez, had disappeared like the dew in the morning. Barely did
a few ragged horsemen fire off a shot or two before turning
around and riding away at a furious gallop. A too dis-
ingenuous or too truthful correspondent gave the show away.
The expeditionary force complains, he gravely reports, of the
absence of the enemy; the approaching harvest season is keep-
ing all the healthy males in the fields! Thus did the phantom
so dextrously conjured by the Comité’ du Maroc, for the
benefit of its aims, disappear in the night.

“Avowals and disclosures then began in right earnest. One
of the correspondents, who had contributed his share to the
concert of lying news, wrote with an admirable sang-froid
that, in truth, there had been some exaggeration; that, in point
of fact, at no moment had the safety of Fez and its inhabi-
tants been seriously menaced; that the idea of a regular siege
and sudden capture had been alike chimerical; and that,
moreover, so far as the provisioning of the place was con-
cerned, he could re-assure the most timorous that there was
sufficient corn in the city to feed the whole population, plus
the expeditionary column, for more than a year! The farce
was played. After Casablanca Fez, France, without realizing
it, without wishing it, almost without knowing it, had taken
a decisive step. An indefinite occupation of the capital was a
natural prelude to a Protectorate, For clever men, who had
invented and executed the scenario, there now only remained
the task of reaping the fruits of their efforts. The era of
concessions, profits, dividends was about to open. Premature
joyfulness! It was the era of difficulties which was at hand.”
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This was the awful situation which the French gov-
ernment had sent an expedition to remedy and which
Sir Edward Grey so heartily approved of in Parlia~
ment,—but what was Germany, equally with England,
France and Spain a signatory to the Act of Algeciras,
which so carefully and solemnly guaranteed the integ-
rity and independence of Morocco, doing all this while?
To understand the situation clearly it must be remem-
bered that ever since the Madrid Conference in 1880,
when Morocco became ‘“an international question,”
Germany had steadily maintained, before the Reichs-
tag and in all diplomatic correspondence with the va-
rious chancellories, that her interests in Morocco were
purely and solely commercial, and that to protect these
interests and secure an equal opportunity of trade for
all nations alike, in other words, “the open door,” it
was necessary that the independence and integrity of
the Shereefian Empire be maintained. That her com-
mercial interests in Morocco were large and her in-
sistence upon their protection just, was recognized in
the French Chamber. This was shown when M. Des-
chanel, president of the French Parliamentary Com-
mittee on Foreign Affairs, in the course of his explan-
ation to the Chamber of Franco-German Convention
of November, 1911, said:

“Could we affect to ignore the interest of Germany in
Morocco for half a century, the travels of her explorers, the
activity of her colonists, her agricultural and mineral enter-
prises, her steamship lines, her postoffices, and especially that
movement of ideas which gravitated towards the Shereefian

Empire, not in Pan-German circles and colonial committees
alone, but in intellectual circles among the elite, which, to °
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the honor and power of that nation, where all co-operate for
the same ends, prepares the work of the diplomatists and
soldiers.”

But let us return to the question as to what Germany
was doing before and during the French occupation
of Fez. That she was perfectly aware of the conse-
quences of such an occupation no one can doubt, nor
can one doubt her recognition of the fact, that, after
such an occupation, to expect France to retreat would
be an act of humiliation to which no proud nation
would voluntarily submit.

On July 1, 1911, a despatch was sent by the Ger-
man government to her ambassadors in the various
capitals of Europe which read, in part, as follows:

“Some German firms, established in the south of Morocco,
notably at Agadir and in that vicinity, have been alarmed by
a certain ferment among the local tribes, due, it seems, to the
recent occurrences in other parts of the country. These firms
have applied to the Imperial Government for protection for
their lives and property. At their request the Imperial Gov-
ernment has decided to send a warship to the port of Agadir
to lend help and assistance in case of need to its subjects
and proteges, as well as to the considerable German interests
in the territory in question. As soon as the state of affairs
in Morocco has resumed its former quiet aspect, the ship,
charged with this protective mission, shall leave the port
of Agadir.

“Please convey this information, verbally, to the government
to which you are accredited, if possible on Saturday at noon,
leaving the text as an aide-memoire.

(Signed) “Kiderlen.”

On July 3rd the German gunboat “Panther,” of
moderate tonnage, carrying only one hundred and
twenty-five men, anchored off Agadir.
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The news of its arrival was received in Paris with
great calmness. The French Foreign Minister, M.
de Selves, regarded it as an incident of so little im-
portance that he went to Holland with President Fal-
liéres and remained there until July 7th. In England,
on the contrary, the excitement was great, although
the British Empire was only indirectly interested. Sir
Edward Grey sent for the German Ambassador and
called a meeting of the Cabinet. This was on July 3rd,
the day the “Panther” arrived. On July 4th he again
sent for the German Ambassador and told him that
the British government could not recognize any ar-
rangement which might be made as a result of the new
situation which had arisen. Mr. Asquith, the Prime
Minister, told the House of Commons on July 6th, that
“His Majesty’s government considered that a new
situation had arisen in Morocco in which it is possible
that future developments may affect British interests
more directly than has been the case.” The Times
took up the question, attacking the German govern-
ment and the German Emperor with great violence,
denying that Germany had any rights in question, and
accusing the German government of insolently attempt-
ing to interfere in matters with which she had no
concermn.

In France, where the public were most directly in-
terested, the tone of the press was distinctly mild. The
government recognized that Gérmany had a very strong
case indeed and that if France were to be allowed to
occupy Morocco without any. friction some compensa-
tion must be offered to Germany because of her very
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large commercial interests in the Shereefian Empire.
Throughout July. the discussions about Morocco were
carried on, with apparently perfect understanding be-
tween France and Germany, but it was evident that
the British Foreign Office viewed a rapproachment
between these two powers with great disquietness. If
it were my purpose, in this book, to go into any de-
tailed discussion of the causes of the present Euro-
pean war I would publish in full Sir Edward Grey’s
speech to the House on July 21st, Mr. Lloyd George’s
famous speech at the Bankers’ Dinner held at the
Mansion House on the same date, and the editorial
comment upon both of these speeches, on July 22nd,
as well as the correspondence between Sir Edward
Grey and the German Ambassador. These speeches
throw a strong light upon European diplomatic meth-
ods and form interesting reading, but are of no im-
portance here. Sufficient to say that in spite of British
protests the government of France did cede to Ger-
many a portion of the French Congo, and Germany
made no further protest against the French occupa-
tion of Morocco, which occupation had been both pub-
licly and privately approved of by England in spite
of her pledge to guarantee the Sultan’s independence,
and thus we see how another small power had been
defended by benevolent assimilation. In this case,
however, the assimilation was not made by England,
but only with her connivance, and the blame for the
partition of Morocco can fairly be laid upon all the
signatories of the Act of Algeciras.



CHAPTER X.

THE AGREEMENT WITH RUSSIA OVER
PERSIA

HUS far in outlining the growth of British policy

we have seen how the Foreign Office from the
time of Queen Elizabeth until today has been domi-
nated by fear of some other nation, and how this fear
by some psychological power, has governed all diplo-
matic action. The fear of France, which held Eng-
land in its grip for so many years, was no sooner
wiped out by the fall of Napoleon than the attention
of the Foreign Office was turned upon Russia because
of imaginary dangers to British control of India. Be-
cause of fear of Russia, England joined France in the
Critmean War, and in 1878 prevented Russia from gain-
ing control of Constantinople.

After the Franco-Prussian War of 1870 a new and
united empire appeared upon the European scene, but
at first England was in open sympathy with German
aspirations. This was because Germany had no navy
and no colonies worth mentioning. When Germany
began to build a navy and to enter into the race for
foreign markets Lord Lansdowne began to anticipate
future complications and approached France in the
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manner described in the preceding chapter, which
resulted in the partition of Morocco and the final
agreement with France as to Egypt. All this time
France had been in close alliance with Russia, and
Russia had been steadily encroaching upon the ter-
ritory of Persia, and thus getting nearer to India.
In order to reach a perfect understanding with France
it became necessary to arrive at some sort of under-
standing with Russia, and this led to the formation of
the Triple Entente which was planned by King Edward
VII and Delcassé, the French Minister of Foreign
Affairs, to check the Triple Alliance between Germany,
Austria-Hungary and Italy, and thus preserve that
sacred idol of secret diplomacy, the “Balance of Power
in Europe.”

When Sir Edward Grey succeeded Lord Lansdowne,
under the ministry of Sir Henry Campbell-Bannerman
in 1906, he, although member of a Liberal cabinet,
proceeded to carry out the distinctly Tory policy of
his predecessor.

This naturally led to the convention between Eng-
land and Russia as to Persia, which was signed on
August 31, 1907. The preamble to this convention
and those parts of it which most vitally affect the inde-
pendence of Persia read as follows:

“His Majesty, the King of the United Kingdom of Great
Britain and Ireland and the British Dominions beyond the
Seas, Emperor of India, and His Majesty, the Emperor of
All the Russias, animated by the sincere desire to decide by
mutual agreement different questions concerning the interests
of their states on the Continent of Asia, have determined to
conclude agreements destined to prevent all cause of misun-
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derstanding between Great Britain and Russia in regard to the
questions referred to, and have nominated for this purpose
their respective plenipotentiaries, to wit:

“His Majesty, the King of the United Kingdom of Great
Britain and Ireland and the British Dominions beyond the
Seas, Emperor of India, the Right Honorable Sir Arthur
Nicholson, His Majesty’s Ambassador Extraordinary and
Plenipotentiary to His Majesty, the Emperor of All the
Russias;

“His Majesty, the Emperor of All the Russias, the master
of his Court, Alexander Iswolsky, Minister- for Foreign
Affairs;

“Who, having communicated to each other their full powers,
found in good and due form, have agreed on the following:

“The Governments of Great Britain and Russia having
mutually engaged to respect the integrity and independence of
Persia, and sincerely desiring the preservation of good order
throughout that country and its peaceful development, as well
as the permanent establishment of equal advantages for the
trade and industry of all other nations;

“Considering that each of them has, for geographical and
economic reasons, a special interest in the maintenance of
peace and order in certain provinces of Persia adjoining to or
in the neighborhood of the Russian frontier on the one hand
and the frontiers of Afghanistan and Baluchistan on the other
hand, and being desirous of avoiding cause of conflict between
their respective interests in the above mentioned Provinces
of Persia;

“Have agreed on the following terms:

I

“Great Britain engages not to seek for herself, and not to
support in favor of British subjects, or in favor of the
subjects of third Powers, any concessions for railways, banks,
telegraphs, roads, transports, insurances, etc., beyond a line
starting from Kasr-1-Shirin, passing Isfahan, Yezd, Kakhk,
and ending at a point on the Persian frontier at the inter-
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section of the Russian and Afghan frontiers, and not to
oppose directly, or indirectly, demands for similar conces-
sions in this region which are supported by the Russian
Government. It is understood that the above mentioned places
are included in the region in which Great Britain engages not
to seek the concessions referred to.

I

“Russia, on her part, engages not to seek for herself, and
not to support in favor of Russian subjects, or in favor of
subjects of third Powers, any concessions of a political or
commercial nature—such as concessions for railways, banks,
telegraphs, roads, transports, insurances, etc.—beyond a line
going from the Afghan frontier by way of Gazik, Birjasid,
Kerman, and ending at Bunder Abbas, and not to oppose,
directly or indirectly, demands for similar concessions in this
region which are supported by the British Government. It is
understood that the above mentioned places are included in
the region in which Russia engages not to seek the concessions
referred to.

11

y “Russia, on her part, engages not to oppose, without pre-
vious arrangement with Great Britain, the grant of any con-
cessions whatever to British subjects in the regions of Persia
situated between the lines mentioned in Articles I and II.
Great Britain undertakes a similar engagement as regards the
grant of concessions to Russian subjects in the same regions
of Persia.

“All concessions existing at present in the regions indicated
in Articles I and II are maintained.

v
“It is understood that the revenues of all the Persian cus-
toms, with the exception of those of the Persian Gulf and
of Farsistan, revenues guaranteeing the amortization and the
interest of the loans concluded by the Government of the
Shah with the ‘Banque d’Escompte et des Prets de Perse’ up



THE AGREEMENT WITH RUSSIA 133

to the date of his signature of the present arrangement, shall
be devoted to the same purpose as in the past.

“It is equally understood that the revenues of the Persian
customs of Farsistan and of the Persian Gulf, as well as
those of the fisheries on the Persian shore of the Caspian
Sea, and those of the posts and telegraphs, shall be devoted,
as in the past, to the services of the loans concluded by the
Government of the Shah with the Imperial Bank of Persia
up to the date of the present arrangement.

A%

“In the event of irregularities in the amortization of the
payment of the interest of the Persian loans concluded with
the ‘Banque d’Escompte et des Prets de Perse’ and with the
Imperial Bank of Persia up to the date of the signature of the
preseht arrangement, and in the event of the necessity arising
for Russia to establish control over the sources of revenue
guaranteeing the regular service of the loans concluded with
the first named bank, and situated in the region mentioned
in Article IT of the present Arrangement, or for Great Britain
to establish control over the sources of revenues guaranteeing
the regular service of the loans concluded with the second
named bank and situated in the region mentioned in Article
I of the present Arrangements, the British and Russian Gov-
ernments undertake to enter beforehand into a friendly ex-
change of ideas with a view to determine, in agreement with
each other, the measures of control in question and to avoid
all interference which would not be in conformity with the
principles governing the present Arrangement.”

The remaining articles of the convention refer to
Thibet and Afghanistan and do not affect Persia, ex-
cept remotely. This agreement was made solely be-
tween Great Britain and Russia, without any con-
sideration of Persia, nor was Persia requested to sign
it. It was concluded on August 31st, but the Medjlis,
or Persian Parliament, did not know of its existence
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until it was published in a Teheran newspaper on
September 4th.

As may be easily imagined, the publication of this
convention was received with surprise and indigna--
tion by the Persian Parliament and people who
strongly resented having their country partitioned off
into zones by foreign governments who styled them-
selves as “ friendly,” and proclaimed so loudly their
“mutual engagement to respect the integrity and in-
dependence of Persia,” and their “sincere desire for
the preservation of order throughout that country and
its peaceful development.” At that time Sir Cecil
Spring-Rice, now British Ambassador at Washing-
ton, was the British Minister at Teheran, and because
of the excited condition of public opinion he, on
September 5th, gave to the Persian Government an
official explanation of the convention, from which I
make two quotations, which will be sufficient to show
the tone of the whole communications. They are as
follows:

“As to the reported partition of Persia between Russia
and England, concerning which it is asserted that the two
Powers above mentioned wish to define spheres of influence
for themselves, Sir Edward Grey and Mr. Iswolsky have
explicitly declared that these reports have no foundation.

“From the above statements you will see how baseless and
unfounded are these rumors which have lately prevailed in
Persia, concerning the political ambitions of England and
Russia in this country. The object of the two Powers in mak-
ing this agreement is not in any way to attack but rather
to assure forever the independence of Persia.

“Not only do they not wish to have at hand any excuse
for intervention, but their object in these friendly negotiations
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was not to allow one another to intervene on the pretext of
safeguarding their interest. The two Powers hope that in
future Persia will be forever delivered from the fear of for-
eign intervention and will then be perfectly free to manage
her own affairs in her own way, whereby advantage will
accrue to herself and to the whole world.”

It is interesting to note that until December, 1911,
no mention of this above “explanation” appeared in
the British Blue Book.

Rumors of this communication from Sir Cecil
Spring-Rice to the Persian Government having gained
ground in England, the Secretary of State for Foreign
Affairs was questioned in the House of Commons
upon this subject, and acknowledged that this com-
munication or explanation of the convention had been
made to the Persian Government by the British
Minister on the date above mentioned.

Now, let us briefly consider how the two “friendly”
powers lived up to their agreement to guarantee and
protect “‘the integrity and independence of Persia.” Dur-
ing the five years previous to the signing of the Russo-
British convention there had grown up in Persia a na-
tionalists party led by young, able and patriotic men
who had traveled and studied in Europe and had be-
come inoculated with the modern spirit of democracy.
This party had attempted to establish a constitutional
government in Persia, but every effort towards real re-
form which they made was opposed by the reigning
Shah, Mohammed Ali, who was little more than a
tool of Russia. In spite of this opposition a constitu-
tion had been established which the Shah solemnly
swore to accept. '
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In December, 1907, the year of the convention,
the Shah determined to destroy the Medjlis, and for
this purpose gathered together an army composed of
from twelve to eighteen hundred DPersians, com-
manded by Russian officers, who had been loaned by
the Russian Government for this purpose but were paid
out of the Persian Treasury, and a large body of his
own servitors, increased by all of the discontents in
the capital. On December 15th the Prime Minister
and his cabinet, who had just resigned, were sum-
moned by the Shah to his palace and there forcibly
detained. During their detention the Shah’s forces
stirred up a riot in Teheran, which was successfully
put down by the Medjlis, and by December 20th order
was restored and a new cabinet, proposed by the
Shah, was accepted by the Medjlis.

By the end of May, 1908, both the Royalist and
Nationalist parties had formulated their policies and
had come to a mutual agreement. The Shah, on June
1st, dismissed certain of his courtiers in accordance
with the demands of the Nationalists, and one of these,
Ami Bahadur Jang, the one most hated by the Persian
people, found an asylum in the Russian Ministry,
and Mr. Marling, the British Chargé d’Affaires, called
upon the Persian Minister of Foreign Affairs and
threatened that unless the Persian Government agreed
to the demands of the Shah, Russia would forcibly
intervene. This was in less than five months after
Sir Cecil Spring-Rice had issued his formal com-
munication stating that neither Great Britain nor Rus-
sia would ever interfere in the local affairs of the
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Persian Government. This threat of the two lega-
tions led to an attack on the Parliament Building on
June 23rd, when one thousand Cossacks, under the
leadership of Colonel Liakhoff, a Russian officer,
opened fire upon the Medjlis and killed a number
of Nationalists. The defenders of the Medjlis kept
up a resistance for seven or eight hours, in spite of
the odds against them, and did not give up until
the buildings were badly damaged by shell and shrap-
nel and most of the inmates either killed or cap-
tured. For several days after the destruction of the
Medjlis, Colonel Liakhoff and his Cossacks bombarded
and looted the houses of all who were especially dis-
liked by the Shah. Valuable records belonging to the
Medjlis were destroyed in this bombardment, and
Colonel Liakhoff became an actual dictator in
Teheran. The Russian zone in Persia, as defined by
the convention of 1907, contained Teheran, the capital,
Tabriz, the second largest city, and most of the impor-
tant centers of population. During the bombardment
in Teheran a minor revolution against the Shah broke
out at Tabriz, which was put down by a second inter-
vention of Russian troops on the ground . that their
presence was necessary to protect the lives and prop-
erty of foreigners, although both in Teheran and at
Tabriz, all of the depredation against foreigners had
been committed by Royalist soldiers and followers, as
the Nationalists were scrupulous to protect foreign
lives and properties. Ample proof of this fact has
been given by Europeans who were residing in both
cities at the time. The hopes of the Persian people
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to establish a constitutional government of their own
seemed doomed to defeat, owing to the active inter-
ference of Russia.

In October of this same year, 1908, the tide in favor
of the Nationalists began to turn, and by October
12th they succeeded in getting undisputed control of
Tabriz, but the inhabitants of the city were in almost
desperate straits. Many were dying from starvation,
and the city was surrounded by the forces of the
Shah.

Throughout the winter conditions went from bad
to worse, and on April 21st, 1909, an attempt was made
to break through the enemy’s lines to secure food.
This sortie was led by an Englishman named W. A.
Moore, who had gone to Persia to represent several
English newspapers and who had joined the
Nationalist forces, and an American, Mr. H. C. Bas-
kerville, who was a teacher in the school of the Ameri-
can Presbyterian Mission at Tabriz. In this sally
Mr. Baskerville was killed, and on April 29th a Rus-
sian force, composed of three battalions of infantry,
two of artillery and a company of sappers, entered the
city. At this time the Russian Government gave
solemn assurances that just as soon as order was re-
stored these four thousand troops would be with-
drawn, but down to June, 1912, the order for their
withdrawal had not been issued. On April 22nd the
British and Russian Legations sent a note to the
Shah demanding that he restore order and accept the
constitution, and as a result of this note he, the
Shah, on May 10th again solemnly swore that he would
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abide by the constitution, but by this time the
Nationalist leaders, as well as the Persian people, had
lost all faith in his promises.

A guerilla warfare between the forces of the two
parties was kept up, with varying results, until the
month of July, when Russia warned the Nationalists
that any further attempts on their part to enter
Teheran would' be followed by active intervention.
On July 10th a battle was fought between Cossack
troops and Nationalist forces at Badamak, fifteen
miles from Teheran, but without any decisive results,
although skirmishing continued for two days. On
July 13th the Nationalist forces succeeded in slipping
through the Cossack and Royalist lines and entered
Teheran.

They were received by the inhabitants of the city
with greatest joy, and by the 15th received full pos-
session of the capital. On the next day the Shah,
with a large party of his soldiers and attendants, left
the city at 8:30 o’clock in the morning and took refuge
in the Russian Legation, seven miles outside of the
city. By this act he virtually abdicated his throne.
As soon as he reached the legation both the Russian
and British flags were hoisted, showing the unanimity
between the two powers in upholding the Shah against
the Persian people. '

On that same evening a mass meeting was held in
the grounds of the Medjlis palace, in which the Shah
was formally deposed and his son, Ahmad Mirza, a
boy twelve years old, was proclaimed his successor,
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and a regent was appointed in the person of Azudu’l
Mulk, a venerable statesman.

In January the cause of the Nationalists had seemed
entirely lost, but by July 16th, through the courage,
patriotism and skill of their leaders and soldiers, the
hopes of a constitutional and representative govern-
ment had been restored.

On July 20th the young Shal triumphantly entered
his capital, and shortly after this the new constitu-
tional government was formally recognized by both
England and Russia. With the Shah deposed and the
constitutional government in full force, the Nationalist
party hoped for a long period of peace in which to
work out the grave problems facing the government.
The cabinet and Medjlis got vigorously to work to
raise the revenues needed to meet their current ex-
penses and foreign obligations; to police the country;
to restore order and protect lives and property. The
problems facing them were far from easy of solution.
They plainly realized that their government must not
only command the confidence and respect and loyal
support of their own people, but must also be so stable
that it could resist any further interference from the
so-called “friendly” powers., Added to their own in-
ternal difficulties, which were tremendous, they had to
reckon with the open hostility of Russia and the
timidity of England in opposing any of Russia’s
schemes. Several times the Medjlis had appealed to
England against Russia’s encroachments, and at one
time had won the sympathy of the British Minister,
but Sir Edward Grey set aside the advice of Spring-



THE AGREEMENT WITH RUSSIA 141

Rice and issued positive orders not to oppose Russia.
The Persian Government, in December, 1909, attempt-
ed to obtain from the governments of Great Britain
and Russia a loan of $2,500,000, but the conditions
upon which they could secure this amount of money
were so dangerous to the independence of Persia that
the Medjlis did not dare to accept them. In the fol-
lowing year the Persian Government entered into
negotiations with a private banking house in London,
and the terms of the loan had been mutually agreed
upon, to the satisfaction of both parties, when the
British Government, acting upon protestation from
Russia, prevented the Medjlis from pledging the
Persian crown jewels as security, so these negotia-
tions were brought to an end. While the above men-
tioned negotiations were going on, Russia was de-
manding valuable concessions from Persia as the price
of withdrawing her troops from Tabriz and vicinity,
although the country was absolutely at peace, and
there was no possible excuse for the presence of the
Cossacks. In all of these demands Russia had the
open sympathy of the British Government. Having
failed in all the attempts to float a loan in England or
Russia, the Medjlis decided to try the experiment of
securing an administrator from the United States, as
they felt that an official who was free from any Euro-
pean influence might be able to re-organize the financial
condition of their distracted country. On December
25, 1910, the Persian Minister of Foreign Affairs sent
instructions to the Persian representative in Wash-
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ington to take the necessary steps to secure such an
administrator as might be needed.

Mr. Knox was then the American Secretary of State,
and, upon his recommendation, Mr. W. Morgan Shus-
ter was offered a contract to act for three years as
Treasurer-General of the Persian Empire in order to
organize and collect the revenues of Persia and super-
intend their disbursements. Four American assistants
to the Treasurer-General were also engaged. Shortly
after his return to this country Mr. Shuster published
a graphic account of his experiences in this responsible
position, which he very aptly describes in his title as
The Strangling of Persia. He arrived in Teheran
on May 12, 1911, and at once entered upon his dif-
ficult duties. From the very first he was made to feel
the subtle opposition of Russia and the apathy of Eng-
land to his efforts at reform, but equally, at the outset
of his work, he won the support and active sympathy
and co-operation of the Medjlis and Persian people.
Shortly before Mr. Shuster’s arrival, the Persian Gov-
ernment had secured from the Imperial Bank of
Persia, a British corporation, the loan of $6,250,000.
On May 30th, a little over a fortnight after his arrival,
Mr. Shuster submitted to the cabinet the project of a
law placing in the hands of the Treasurer-General the
control of the refunding operations and expenditures
resulting from this loan, which project was at once
approved by the Cabinet, passed by the Medjlis and
enacted into law. The passing of this law was in
direct opposition to the Russian influence and was
regarded by the Medjlis as a victory for their govern-
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ment. On June 13th the Medjlis passed another law
establishing a central organization, which was to be
known as the office of the Treasurer-General of Persia.
This office was to be held responsible for the collec-
tion and disbursement of all revenues and govern-
ment receipts, from whatever source they might be
derived, and was to make and authorize all payments,
for whatever purpose, in behalf of the Government
of Persia. Previous to the enactment of this law col-
lections had been made by officials of so many gov-
ernment departments that it was practically impossible
for the government to know the amount of the public
revenues, from what sources they came and where they
went. During the eight months, in which Mr. Shus-
ter was allowed to remain in Persia, under the opera-
tion of this law, taxes were collected, all regular and
extraordinary expenses were met, all foreign obliga-
tions and the salaries of the different ministries and
of the foreign representatives of the government, were
paid for the first time in years, and an accurate ac-
count of every receipt and expenditure was kept. It
was to have been supposed that the enactment of such
a law, protecting and guaranteeing the rights and in-
terests of foreign creditors, would have won the en-
thusiastic support of the foreign powers, but such, alas!
was not the case. On the very day on which the law
was passed, the Russian Minister announced that the
Belgian Customs employees, who had been installed
before the advent of Mr. Shuster, should not be under
the control or supervision of the American Treasurer-
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General, and he threatened to seize the customhouses
in the north and put Russian officials in charge.

Whichever way he happened to turn, the American
Treasurer-General found himself opposed by the
powers, but in spite of this opposition he persisted in
his attempts to carry out the terms of his contract with
the Persian Government. Mr. Shuster’s own account
of the proceedings of the eight months in which he
was allowed to remain at his post, form one of the
most interesting treatises upon the method of Euro-
pean diplomacy which have been published in recent
years. While the Russian Government took the
initiative in all the opposition against him, he does not
hesitate to state that Great Britain flatly refused to
interfere in any way with Russia’s actions.

When he wished to secure the services of Major
C. B. Stokes, a British subject who had been long a
resident in Persia, who spoke the native language and
was thoroughly familiar with the internal condition
of the country, solely because he, Mr. Shuster, felt
that Major Stokes was the most capable and efficient
man to carry on the important work to be done, the
British Government refused to allow Major Stokes to
serve because Russia objected, although Major Stokes
himself was willing and anxious to so serve.

The loss of Major Stokes’ services was not only
a disappointment to the American Treasurer-General,
but also a great handicap to his carrying on of his
plans, as there was, in the country, no other man of
equal efficiency for the work required. An incident
which occurred in October brought matters to a head.
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A number of the wealthy nobles of Teheran refused
to pay their taxes, and among them, the most flagrant
delinquent, was Prince Alau’d Dawla, a member of
the royal family, When these men could not be per-
suaded to pay their taxes the Treasurer-General, fol-
lowing what had always been the procedure in Persia,
sent a body of the Treasury gendarmes to collect the
taxes by force. These gendarmes notified the prince
that his property was seized by the government and
would be held until the taxes were paid. Alau’d Dawla
fled from his house to the house of the Premier, who
lived nearby, and with tears in his eyes besought his
aid. The Premier’s brother, who was bitterly opposed
to the American administration of the Treasury, ac-
companied by a colonel of the regular army and some
troops, rushed upon the unsuspecting Treasury
gendarmes, beat them with sticks and took the